AD-R134 994 UNCL'ASSIFIED	AN ANALYS EFFECTIVE WRIGHT-PF 28 SEP 83	IS OF SUBOR NESS OF FER TTERSON AFE	RDINATES' PE IALE S. (U) BOH SCHOOL -82-83	RCEPTIONS AIR FORCE OF SYST	OF THE INST OF TECH C L REA F/G 5/1	1/2		



WELLER DAYS STATEMENT

AURODOUND ---

MICROCOPY RESOLUTION TEST CHART NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS-1963-A



Accession For NTIS GRA&I DTIC TAB Unannounced **Justification** Bv_ Distribution/ Availability Codes Avail and/or 4 Dist Special

A Second Second

AN ANALYSIS OF SUBORDINATES' PERCEPTIONS OF THE EFFECTIVENESS OF FEMALE SUPERVISORS IN THE AIR FORCE Charlotte L. Rea, Captain, USAF

LSSR 82-83

DISTRIBUTION DECOMPLET A Approved for public release; Distribution Unlimited

The contents of the document are technically accurate, and no sensitive items, detrimental ideas, or deleterious information are contained therein. Furthermore, the views expressed in the document are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of the School of Systems and Logistics, the Air University, the Air Training Command, the United States Air Force, or the Department of Defense.

ECURITY CLASSIFICATION C		READ INSTRUCTIONS
REPORT NUNDER	DOCUMENTATION PAGE	BEFCRE COMPLETING FORM
LSSR 82-83	AD. A134 994	5. TYPE OF REPORT & PERIOD COVERED
AN ANALYSIS OF S		
	THE EFFECTIVENESS OF	Master's Thesis
	DRS IN THE AIR FORCE	6. PERFORMING ORG. REPORT NUMBER
7. AUTHOR(+)		8. CONTRACT OR GRANT NUMBER(3)
	a i i i i i i i i i i	
charlotte L. Rea	a, Captain, USAF	
PERFORMING ORGANIZAT	ION NAME AND ADDRESS	10. PROPAN FLEMENT, PROJECT, TASK
School of System	ns and Logistics	
Air Force Instit	ute of Technology, WPAFB (DH
1. CONTROLLING OFFICE N		12. REPORT DATE
Department of Co	mmunication	28 September 1983
AFIT/LSH, WPAFB	OH 45433	13. NUMBER OF PAGES
	ME & ADDRESS(II dillerent from Controlling Office	155) 15. SECURITY CLASS. (of this report)
		UNCLASSIFIED
	NT (of this Report) Sublic release; distributio	154. DECLASSIFICATION, DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE
Approved for p		15. DECLASSIFICATION, DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE
Approved for p	public release; distributio	15. DECLASSIFICATION, DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE
Approved for p	public release; distributio	15. DECLASSIFICATION, DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE
Approved for p	Approved ich public release: LAW AFR 190-17.	15. DECLASSIFICATION, DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE
Approved for p	Approved ica public release: LAW AFR 190-17.	15. DECLASSIFICATION, DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE
Approved for p	Approved ics public release: LAW AFR 190-17.	15. DECLASSIFICATION, DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE
Approved for p	Answored ich public release; distribution Answored ich public release: LAW AFR 190-17. LINE E. WOLAVER Decm for Research and Professional Development Air Force Institute of Technology (ATC) Wright-Patterson AFB OH 45433	15. DECLASSIFICATION, DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE On unlimited (rom Report) 15. SEP 1933
Approved for p	Approved ics public release: LAW AFR 190-17.	15. DECLASSIFICATION, DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE On unlimited (rom Report) 1 55EP 1933
Approved for p 17. DISTRIBUTION STATEMEN 18. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 19. KEY WORDS (Continue on r	Angersved ick public release; distribution Angersved ick public release: IAW AFR 190-17. Light E. WOLAVER Deck for Research and Professional Development Ar force institute of Technology (ATC) Wright-Patterson AFB OH 45433 reverse elde if necessary and identify by block numb	15. DECLASSIFICATION, DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE On unlimited (rom Report) 1 55EP 1933
Approved for p 17. DISTRIBUTION STATEMEN 18. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 19. KEY WORDS (Continue on r SUPPLYIBION	Angeored ich public release; distribution Angeored ich public releases IAW AFR 190-17. Lagis E. WOLAVER Decm for Research and Professional Development Air Force Institute of Technology (ATC) Wright-Patterson AFB OH 45433 reverse elde if necessary and identify by block numb female	15. DECLASSIFICATION DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE On unlimited (rom Report) . 15SEP 1933 er)
Approved for p 17. DISTRIBUTION STATEMEN 18. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 19. KEY WORDS (Continue on r SUPPLYISION SUPPRVISION	Answord ich public release; distribution Answord ich public releases IAW AFR 190-17. Light E. WOLAVER Deam for Research and Professional Development Air Force Institute of Technology (ATC) Wright-Patterson AFR OH 45433 everse eide if necessary and identify by block numb female leadership	15. DECLASSIFICATION DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE On unlimited (rom Report) . 15SEP 1933 er)
Approved for p 17. DISTRIBUTION STATEMEN 18. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 19. KEY WORDS (Continue on r SUPPLY SON SUPERVISION SUPERVISION management	Answord ich public release; distribution Answord ich public releases IAW AFR 190-17. Light E. WOLAVER Deam for Research and Professional Development Air Force Institute of Technology (ATC) Wright-Patterson AFR OH 45433 everse eide if necessary and identify by block numb female leadership	15. DECLASSIFICATION: DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE On unlimited (trom Report) 15. 15SEP 1933 er)
Approved for p 17. DISTRIBUTION STATEMEN 18. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 19. KEY WORDS (Continue on r SUPERVISION SUPERVISION SUPERVISION MANAGEMENT 20. ABSTRACT (Continue on re	Approved ist public release; distribution Approved ist public releases IAW AFR 190-17. INT (of the ebstract entered in Block 20, if different Approved ist public releases IAW AFR 190-17. INT E. WOLAVER Deem for Research and Professional Development Air Force institute of Technology (ATC) Wright-Patterson AFB OH 45433 everse eide if necessary and identify by block numbe female leadership analysis of varia	15. DECLASSIFICATION DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE On unlimited (trom Report) 15. SEP 1933 er)
Approved for p 17. DISTRIBUTION STATEMEN 18. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 19. KEY WORDS (Continue on r SUPERVISION SUPERVISION SUPERVISION MANAGEMENT 20. ABSTRACT (Continue on re	Approved ist public release; distribution Approved ist public release: IAW AFR 190-17. INT (of the ebstract entered in Block 20, if different Approved ist public release: IAW AFR 190-17. INT E. WOLAVER Deam ist Research and Professional Development Air Force institute of Technology (ATC) Wright-Patterson AFB OH (543) everse eide if necessary and identify by block numb female leadership analysis of varia	15. DECLASSIFICATION, DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE On unlimited (trom Report) 15. SEP 1933 er)
 DISTRIBUTION STATEMEN SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES KEY WORDS (Continue on r SUPERVISION SUPERVISION MANAGEMENT ABSTRACT (Continue on re 	Approved ist public release; distribution Approved ist public releases IAW AFR 190-17. INT (of the ebstract entered in Block 20, if different Approved ist public releases IAW AFR 190-17. INT E. WOLAVER Deem for Research and Professional Development Air Force institute of Technology (ATC) Wright-Patterson AFB OH 45433 everse eide if necessary and identify by block numbe female leadership analysis of varia	15. DECLASSIFICATION, DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE On unlimited (trom Report) 15. SEP 1933 er)
Approved for p 17. DISTRIBUTION STATEMEN 18. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 19. KEY WORDS (Continue on r SUPPLYISION SUPERVISION SUPERVISION MANAGEMENT 10. ABSTRACT (Continue on re	Approved ist public release; distribution Approved ist public releases IAW AFR 190-17. INT (of the ebstract entered in Block 20, if different Approved ist public releases IAW AFR 190-17. INT E. WOLAVER Deem for Research and Professional Development Air Force institute of Technology (ATC) Wright-Patterson AFB OH 45433 everse eide if necessary and identify by block numbe female leadership analysis of varia	15. DECLASSIFICATION, DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE On unlimited (trom Report) 15. SEP 1933 er)

.

ς.

.....

SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE (When Date Entered)

UNCLASSIFIED

SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE(When Date Entered)

This study addresses the possible impact of increasing numbers of female supervisors on military readiness. A literature review on female military and civilian supervisors found that few studies analyzed the actual performances of female supervisors and that many researchers no longer consider sex a primary indicator of managerial effectiveness. The two research questions posed addressing these issues were: (4) does sex of the manager effect perceived performance? and (2) do demographic characteristics of the female supervisor other than sex have an effect on perceived performance? The data base analyzed contained subordinate responses on the actual performances of their male and female supervisors. A two sample T-test found no significant difference between the perceived performance of male and female supervisors. A series of oneway analyses of variance found four factors--age, years in Air Force, officer rank, and career intentions--significantly effecting the perceived performance of female supervisors. A post facto analysis done on male supervisors found these four, and seven other factors not found for females, to be significant. This analysis also concluded that the supervisor's sex still plays at least a secondary role in perceived performance and that subordinates still use stereotypes in evaluating their supervisors

UNCLASSIFIED

SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE(When Data Entered)

LSSR 82-83

AN ANALYSIS OF SUBORDINATES' PERCEPTIONS OF THE EFFECTIVENESS OF FEMALE SUPERVISORS IN THE AIR FORCE

A Thesis

Presented to the Faculty of the School of Systems and Logistics of the Air Force Institute of Technology

Air University

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree 21 Master of Science in Logistics Management

By

Charlotte L. Rea Captain, USAF

September 1983

Approved for public release; distribution unlimited This thesis, written by

Captain Charlotte L. Rea

has been accepted by the undersigned on behalf of the faculty of the School of Systems and Logistics in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE IN LOGISTICS MANAGEMENT

DATE: 28 September 1983

FEE C ALARMAN

READER

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank Mr. Jerome G. Peppers, Jr. and Major Nestor K. Ovalle, II for their support and guidance throughout this research effort.

Also, I would like to express my gratitude to Captain Jeff Austin and the many other people at the Leadership and Management Development Center who were always ready to answer my questions and provide necessary materials and support.

Special thanks go to Mr. Ire Saxton, without whose help and computer expertise this thesis would never have been completed.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

				Page
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	•	•	•	iii
LIST OF TABLES	•	•	•	viii
Chapter				
I. INTRODUCTION	٠	•	٠	1
Statement of the Problem	•	•	•	4
Background	•	•	•	5
Research Objectives	•	•	•	11
Research Questions	•	•	•	12
II. LITERATURE REVIEW	•	•	•	13
Predicted Performances Due to Sex Stereotypes	•	•	•	13
Sex Characteristic Stereotypes	•	•	٠	14
Sex Role Stereotypes	•	•	•	20
Sex Labeling of Occupations	٠	•	•	25
Sex Value Stereotyping	•	•	•	28
Perceived Performance	•	•	•	29
Attribution Theory	•	•	•	30
Other Studies	•	•	•	32
Managerial Decision-Making	•	•	•	32
Traditional vs Nontraditional Jobs .	•	•	•	33
Use of Power	•	•	•	34
Sex of the Rater	•	•	•	35

ور و مع الم المراجع الم

Chapter Page
Leadership Styles
Effects of Prior Supervision by
a Female Manager
Disclosure of Information 40
Acceptance of Female Managers by Male Managers
Management by Men Compared to Management by Women 42
Rand Report
Conclusions
III. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY
Data Collection
Sample Population
Data Analysis
IV. RESULTS
Research Question One
Research Question Two
Age 57
Months in Position
Years in Air Force
Months in Career Field 61
Personnel Category 63
Rank
Enlisted Supervisors 64
Officer Supervisors 65
Civilian Supervisors 66

Chapter						Page
Professional Military Education .	•	•	•	•	•	67
Educational Level	•	•	•	•	•	69
Career Intentions	•	•	•	•	•	70
Ethnic Background	•	•	•	•	•	71
Summary	•	•	•	•	•	72
Post Facto Analysis	•	•	•	•	•	73
Age	•	•	•	•		74
Months in Position	•	•	•	•		74
Years in Air Force	•	•	•			75
Months in Career Field	•	•	٠	•		75
Personnel Category	•	•	•	•	•	76
Rank	•	•	•	•	•	77
Professional Military Education .	•	٠	•	•	•	• 78
Educational Level	٠	•	•	•	•	79
Career Intentions	•	•	•	•	•	80
Ethnic Background	•	•	٠	•	•	80
Summary	•	•	•	•	•	81
Summary	•	•	•	•	•	82
V. RECOMMENDATIONS AND CONCLUSIONS	•	•	•	•	•	83
Research Question One	•	•	•	•	•	85
Research Question Two	•	•	•	•	•	86
Post Facto Analysis	•	•	•	•	•	88
Recommendations for Further Study .	•	•	•	•	•	93

.

vi

APPENDIX A.	ORGANIZATIONAL ASSESSMENT PACKAGE	95
APPENDIX B.	FACTORS AND VARIABLES	110
APPENDIX C.	ANALYSES OF VARIANCE	128
BIBLIOGRAPHY		141

Page

LIST OF TABLES

Table				Page
4-1	Analysis of Factors	and	Variables	55
	Comparison of Means Female Supervisors		Male and	56

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Following a decade filled with challenging personnel problems and unparalleled changes in personnel policy, the armed forces have turned to readiness as their major concern for the 1980s. The 1970s had truly been a turbulent time for personnel managers in the Air Force and her sister services. The Vietnam War ended, leaving the American public very disillusioned and dissatisfied with its military establishment. This dissatisfaction, along with the need for fewer military personnel at the conclusion of the war, gave rise to the All Volunteer Force in 1973. No longer could the military services rely on the draft for a steady supply of qualified male recruits. As a result, the services began to consider other personnel sources, including civilians and women. Retired Air Force Major General Jeanne Holm, in her book, Women in the Military, says that the end of the draft, "more than any other factor during the seventies, produced an expansion of woman's participation in the armed forces that was of unexpected and unprecedented proportions [24:246]." The passage of the Equal Rights Amendment (ERA) by Congress in 1972 also increased the role women were to play in the military and

in the success of the All Volunteer Force. Following the passage of the ERA, a special subcommittee was formed to study use of women in the military. The subcommittee emphasized the importance of women:

We are concerned that the Department of Defense and each of the military services are guilty of 'tokenism' in the recruitment and utilization of women in the Armed Forces. We are convinced that in the atmosphere of a zero draft environment or an all-volunteer military force, women could and should play a more important role [24:249-250].

Thus, the stage was set for greater use of women in the military.

But to complicate the manpower issue even more, in the late 1970s officer and enlisted retention rates began to drop sharply, leaving the services with a severe shortage of skilled middle-managers. Recruiting was also down, as the manpower pool of qualified male recruits had begun to shrink drastically. This trend will continue until the end of the century, so that by 1992 the number of eligible eighteen-year-old males will have dropped by 20 percent (24:389). In 1979, the Air Force faced a shortfall of over 2,500 recruits, and the quantity of recruits with high school diplomas had dropped from 90 percent to 80 percent. The Army's quantity had dropped to 58 percent (17:130).

Faced with these serious manpower problems, it was not surprising that the services began to question their

readiness in the 1980s. They entered the new decade with an extremely young and inexperienced force with a greater percentage of women than ever before. In 1981, Air Force Lieutenant General Iosue, Deputy Chief of Staff for Manpower and Personnel, described the Air Force's concern. In the enlisted ranks, "we lost eight percent in total manpower of experience, or the equivalent of 4,000 E-5s or 2,400 E-6s." In the officer ranks, "we are about forty percent manned by lieutenants [42:37]."

Alarmed by these changes, the military services began to reevaluate their personnel policies, especially those with regard to women. Retired Air Force Major General Holm recounts:

On 19 January 1981, the service <u>Times</u> reported that the Army and the Air Force had secretly submitted to the Reagan transition team in December a proposal that the female enlisted strength goals set by the Carter administration be scrapped until women's impact on force-readiness could be determined [24:382].

It seems strange that at a time when women seemed to be the salvation of the Ali Volunteer Force, their abilities to successfully participate in the military mission and contribute to military effectiveness were again being questioned. Secretary of Defense Casper Weinberger put the issue partially to rest in 1981 with a memo to the Service

Secretaries in which he stated:

Women in the military are a very important part of our total force capability. Qualified women are essential to obtaining the numbers of quality people required to maintain the readiness of our forces. This Administration desires to increase the role of women in the military, and I expect the Service Secretaries to actively support that policy [5:49].

Statement of the Problem

Due to the increased numbers of women entering and middle-managers leaving the armed forces during the 1970s, more positions of increased responsibility fell open to Today, more military women serve as supervisors women. of mixed male and female units than ever before. This increased number of female supervisors in the military closely parallels the same increase of women managers in the civilian work force. Substantial research on women as managers has been conducted in the civilian community, much of which focuses on how women deal with the stress of working in a male-dominated environment in traditionally male positions. However, few conclusive studies exist on the effectiveness of women in such managerial positions. Much of the research on military women deals with their perceptions of military life and how effective they perceive themselves to be at their jobs. Other research focuses on how receptive and accepting male military

members are of their female co-workers. Little research has been done on how other military members view women as supervisors. This study focuses on this issue and investigates how male and female subordinates perceive the effectiveness of their female supervisors in the Air Force.

Background

Women have participated in the U.S. military since the Revolutionary War. They have served in every U.S. war. Prior to World War II, their participation was mostly as charwomen or nurses. But hundreds of other women, disguised as men, fought in actual battles. Others served as spies. The female nurses probably made the most significant contribution and certainly served in the greatest numbers. During the Spanish-American War, over 1,500 women served as nurses in the United States and overseas (24:8). Just prior to World War I, the Army and Navy formed auxiliary nursing corps, but these corps did not receive full military status until 1944.

During World War I, 34,000 women served in the armed forces as nurses, clerical workers, draftsmen, translators, radio electricians, and camouflage designers. They served in the U.S. and overseas in France, Belgium, England, Italy, Siberia, and Serbia (24:10). During this time, women also moved into the civiliar work force in greater

numbers, working in shipyards, steel mills, and aircraft plants, as well as in traditional clerical positions. But, at the close of World War I, women in the military were demobilized, and most of the civilian women lost their wartime jobs to military men returning home. These women were not to serve again until World War II.

As World War II approached, faced with severe shortages of men, the military and civilian communities again turned to women as an alternative manpower source. By 1943, the Navy, Army, Coast Guard, and Marines had all established women's military units. In 1945, there were over 283,000 women serving in the armed forces of the U.S. (24:98). They served as nurses, pilots, clerical workers, navigators, parachute riggers, engine mechanics, and gunnery instructors (24:60). Like their male counterparts, they served in every major overseas theater, were captured as prisoners of war, and died while performing their military duties. Civilian women also served by moving into jobs normally filled by the men who were then fighting in the military. When military women were restricted from filling certain positions, especially overseas, civilian women were enthusiastically recruited to take their places.

After World War II, even though military leaders admitted women had performed admirably during the war, the women's units were again demobilized. Civilian women generally returned to their traditional jobs as wives and

mothers. It was not until 1948 that the Women's Armed Services Act was passed, establishing permanent roles for women in the Army, Navy, Air Force, and Marine Corps (24:113).

Although this act finally legitimized woman's role in the military, it also established some rather stringent controls on her participation. These controls included: (1) establishing a 2 percent limit on women serving in the regular component of each service; (2) allowing only one female colonel or Navy captain to serve in each service; (3) limiting the number of women who could serve as lieutenant colonels or Navy commanders in each service; (4) establishing separate promotion lists for women in all grades in the Army, Navy, and Marine Corps; (5) limiting the types of jobs women could hold; and (6) authorizing the Service Secretaries blanket authority to terminate the commission or enlistment of any female member (24:120).

These constraints on the use of women in the armed forces made it almost impossible for military women to acquire skills as supervisors and managers. If they were allowed to supervise at all, it was usually other women they supervised and in traditionally female jobs. They were not allowed to attend the service academies, the Reserved Officer Training (ROTC) programs, or senior professional military schools. The constraints held mainly because military men did not want to serve under

women. This factor was pointed out at the end of World War II by Army psychiatrists who found:

In order for women to gain active participation in military activities, it was necessary for man to change his basic concept of the feminine role: to overcome his fear of "women generals" [24:195].

No matter how unfair or restrictive, these constraints held until the advent of the Vietnam War. Faced with severe male resistance to the draft, the U.S. had to reassess its military personnel policies. As a result, women in the military made some gains. In 1967 Congress lifted the grade ceilings for women officers and the 2 percent ceiling for women serving on active duty. The other restraints would have to wait, some until 1981, before social pressures outside the military began to precipitate changes.

After the Vietnam War, the All Volunteer Force was established, resulting in greater participation for women in the military. An All Volunteer Task Force was created which asked each service to develop contingency plans for greater use of women. The Army, Air Force, and Navy were told to plan for a 50 percent increase in their women's programs by 1977. By 1982 the services were expected to have 147,000 women in the ranks, or about 7 percent of the total force (24:249).

The All Volunteer Force was not the only factor responsible for greater use and participation of women in the military. The Civil Rights Act of 1964 and the Equal Rights Amendment passed by Congress in 1972 placed new emphasis on equal opportunity for women in both the civilian and military work force. Due, at least partially, to social pressures brought about by this legislation, officer commissioning programs, including the Air Force Officer Training School, Air Force Reserve Officers Training Corps, and the service academies were opened to women. Senior professional military schools were also opened to women for the first time. Nontraditional jobs such as pilot, missile maintenance officer and technician, navigator, security policeman, and aircraft mechanic were finally opened to women. At last women began to move into positions of increased responsibility where they could supervise both men and women in traditional and nontraditional jobs.

Women were making great strides in the civilian community during this same period. By 1979, 41.2 percent of the total labor force was comprised of women (53:547). Between 1970 and 1978, the proportion of women in managerial positions increased by 1.6 percent in contrast to 0.1 percent from 1950 to 1970 (53:549). White gives several factors causing the increase: the women's liberation movement which brought about changing views of

woman's role in society; federal legislation prohibiting sex discrimination, most important of which was the Civil Rights Act of 1964; the Affirmative Action Program of the Equal Opportunity Commission; and the increasing number of highly-educated women, with no young dependent children, entering the work force (53:549).

One important trend to note is, although civilian and military women were moving into managerial positions in greater numbers, these positions were at the lower levels of management. Moore says in 1977 it was estimated that in over half of U.S. companies women held less than 5 percent of the first level supervisory positions, and in three-fourths of U.S. companies they held 2 percent or less of the middle management jobs and none of the top level positions. She also reports that of the 2,500 key personnel directing major U.S. corporations in 1977 only sixteen were women (33:318). In the military from 1973 to 1979, although the number of women in the lower enlisted and officer ranks increased dramatically, the number of women in the senior enlisted and officer ranks actually decreased (28:2).

Women are still poorly represented in the senior enlisted and officer ranks. In the Air Force, for example, of the 338 general officers serving as of September 1982, only two were women. Similarly, only fourteen of the 4,749 Chief Master Sergeants in the Air Force are women. Women

hold only 3 percent of the field grade officer positions in the Air Force and less than .5 percent of the senior NCO positions (2:168).

As women moved into positions of greater responsibility in both the military and civilian work communities, their abilities as supervisors and managers came under close scrutiny. Researchers became very interested in the reasons for their successes and failures. Chapter II of this research effort documents the studies completed in this area. These studies are divided into two areas: (1) those analyzing sex stereotyping in the work force and its effect in predicting performance of female managers, and (2) those analyzing actual performances of female managers as perceived by the manager herself, her peers, supervisors, and subordinates. The review covers research done on female managers in both the civilian and military work environments.

Research Objectives

The objective of this research is to analyze the Organizational Assessment Package (OAP) data base provided by the Air Force Leadership and Management Development Center to determine first whether sex of the supervisor has an effect on the subordinate's perception of supervisory effectiveness, and second, whether various demographic

factors associated with the supervisor have an effect on these perceptions. These data will be analyzed and converted into usable information which should enable managers to better use women as supervisors in the Air Force and thus enhance organizational effectiveness.

Research Questions

In order to meet these research objectives, the following research questions were posed:

1. How effective are female supervisors compared to male supervisors in the Air Force as perceived by their subordinates?

2. Do factors such as the supervisor's age, rank, time in service, education level, race, and completion of professional military education affect the subordinate's perception of the effectiveness of female supervisors?

Sec. 5. 25 (19)

CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEW

This literature review assesses the research accomplished on the role of women as managers in both the military and civilian communities. The literature can be divided into two areas: (1) the predicted performance of women as managers due to sex stereotypes at work in management climates, and (2) the actual job performance of women managers as perceived by themselves, their supervisors, subordinates, and peers. As might be expected, the two areas do overlap, but still provide an appropriate and logical breakdown of the literature.

Predicted Performance Due to Sex Stereotypes

Sex stereotyping exists throughout society and the work environment is no exception. Several research studies have shown sex stereotypes are used to predict the performance and color the expectations of women managers. Crittenden says, "the value programming or socialization process of individuals from early childhood has created attitudes that have helped shape the destiny of women in management [11:27]."

Sex stereotyping in the work environment may take several forms. Izraeli describes four major types as sex characteristic stereotyping, sex role stereotyping, sex labeling of occupations, and "sex value" stereotyping (26:54). The first two areas, sex characteristic stereotyping and sex role stereotyping, have received the most research attention and are sometimes confused.

Sex Characteristic Stereotypes

Sex characteristic stereotypes deal with personality traits commonly believed to be sex related. For example, by virtue of their sex, women are believed to be more emotional, less aggressive, less ambitious, and more irrational than men. Many of the traits believed to be necessary for good management are those attributed to males such as self-confidence, competitiveness, rationality, and aggressiveness. Sex role stereotypes, on the other hand, are "widely held beliefs concerning the appropriate behavior of men and women as individuals and in relation to others [26:54]." Women are expected by society to perform several roles such as wife and mother. With these roles come expected or normative behaviors such as dependency on and submissiveness to their husbands and sharing with and nurturing of their children. Sex role stereotypes describe what women should or should not do,

while sex characteristic stereotypes describe what women are. Research on these two forms of sex stereotyping have provided little conclusive evidence as to the true characteristics or roles of women in management. But research in this area is important since management traits have been those traditionally attributed to males, and the managerial role is one that historically has been reserved for men.

Studies have consistently reported that men and women both attribute good management to male attributes. White found that when male and female managers are asked to list traits attributable to successful managers they "list attitudes and temperaments more commonly ascribed to men in general than women in general," and they "tend to equate masculinity with superiority [53:552]." Moore and Rickel report that in a nationwide sample of male and female managers, the five most important characteristics given for managers were depicted by both male and female managers as male characteristics (33:320).

Three characteristics usually considered lacking in women but vital for good management are self-confidence, job commitment, and need for achievement. Considerable research has been performed on the presence or absence of these characteristics in women. White says the "most wellvalidated trait distinguishing female from male managers is self-confidence [53-552]." He believes the strongest indication that women are not confident in their own abilities

as managers is their adoption of the male stereotype as the true managerial model and their attempt to use these male traits in their own performances as managers (53:552).

Unlike self-confidence, the presence or absence of job commitment among women managers is not so clearly defined. Tied closely to the concept of job commitment is turnover and absenteeism. One of the justifications companies use for not hiring women or for paying them lower salaries than males is that they have less job commitment or career orientation than men and are thus less costeffective. Chusmir found that "men and women are likely to exhibit the same degree of turnover, absenteeism, and/or job commitment given the same situation [9:595]." Hoiberg and Thomas found in a study of Navy enlisted women that they had substantially lower rates of absenteeism than men and that they remained in the Navy past their first-term reenlistment in almost equal proportions to men (22:24). They also found it was more cost-effective to enlist Navy women than Navy men. For each woman enlisted in place of a man in 1975, the Navy saved \$853, for a total savings of \$5,104,352 (22:24). Bartol and Manhardt studied 628 college graduates newly hired into an insurance firm over a nine-year period and found that women who had relatively high career orientations had lower rates of turnover than other men or women in the organization. By the later stages of the study, the job outcome preference of the men

and women had become almost the same (5:480).

Several studies have been done using longitudinal data collected by the National Opinion Research Center from 1961 to 1968 on women leaving college and entering the work force. Bielby used these data to assess the career involvement of these women over the period from 1961 to 1968. He found that situational factors such as marital status, number of children, spouse support, and education and salary level of spouse had the greatest effect on women's career involvement (6:19). Using these same data, Perrucci and Targ concluded that situational factors were more important than a woman's career orientation in deciding whether she remained in the work force (41:227).

Other studies using different data have shown similar results. Job commitment of women has been strongly and inversely related to sex-role conflict (9:559). Since women must often play the roles of mother and wife along with manager, the managerial role, being less accepted, is often given lower priority, thus impacting job commitment.

The studies performed on the need for achievement present among women managers have been inconclusive. White says this may be due to the fact that women do have a high need for achievement, but in areas not usually measured by theorists (53:558). In a study done by Okanes and Murray using fifty-one male and fifty-one female managers, they found the females had a higher need for achievement than

the males (39:785). Adams found in a study of male and female cadets at West Point that women and men with similar educational and career aspirations have the same need for achievement. He also found that personality characteristics of the leader had no effect on group performance (1:104). Other studies have shown that women in nontraditional jobs and in higher levels of management have a greater need for achievement than women in traditional or lower management positions (33:318).

The fact that the results of these studies on job commitment and need for achievement are inconclusive may be because these traits or characteristics are not innate or a function of sex but are highly dependent on situational variables and the roles in which women find themselves (48:659). Recent studies have argued that women managers may actually display or possess different characteristics than the general female population and "see themselves as more broad-minded, dominating, efficient, and independent than non-career women [53:562]."

Other researchers believe the presence or absence of these male characteristics in women managers is not really the issue since there are many traits attributed specifically to females that are just as important to good management. They feel that management should be androgynous. Cook and Mendelson say that androgyny is "the blending of so-called masculine and feminine behaviors

and values to produce a complete well-balanced person [10:29]." Cook used a national sample of male executives and a separate sample of female executives to compare their value systems. She found they shared a pragmatic orientation and the belief that values such as power, efficiency, growth, and achievement were very important. But she also found differences in their values. Men preferred more "brute-force" values such as force, competition, risk, and aggressiveness. Women preferred more "people-centered" values such as loyalty, cooperation, tolerance, and trust (10:33). Cook feels that androgyny provides the most socially responsible form of management.

Androgynous management is a relatively new concept and has not received widespread support or attention to date. Most male and female managers still adhere to the male managerial model. Since male traits are still commonly believed to be the best for management, sex characteristic stereotyping continues to be a factor in access and treatment discrimination of women managers (52:232). White says that women, when they fail to display stereotypic male characteristics and exhibit female characteristics contrary to the male managerial model, effect their managerial careers in several ways. He feels the most significant roadblock to their success is the perception that the good manager is one who exhibits male characteristics (52:229).

In a study on androgynous behavior and its acceptance by enlisted Navy personnel, Hinsdale and Johnson found that "androgyny might be more adaptive in theory than in practice [20:19]." For women this seemed particularly true since to advance their careers they had to display more masculine behaviors, but to satisfy their peers they had to assume the more traditional female role.

In a later study, they found some evidence that treatment discrimination may be lessening at least for subordinates if not for supervisors. In this study, they found that cross-sex or androgynous behavior was actually preferred or even encouraged by both peers and supervisors. The study, unfortunately, did not address the managerial behaviors preferred by subordinates or supervisors (21:15-16).

Sex Role Stereotypes

As previously stated, sex characteristic stereotypes and sex role stereotypes are often confused. This may be because male/female differences are related more closely to role than sex (53:553). The role of manager has traditionally been held by males in our society. When a woman steps into this role, she may suffer role stress in the form of role ambiguity or role conflict. Latack defines role ambiguity as "the degree to which information is lacking on

expectations, methods, and consequences of role performance [29:89]." Role conflict, on the other hand, results "when conflicting and competing expectancies are perceived from two or more roles enacted by an individual [23:86]." Women managers suffer from role conflict when they try to juggle the competing demands of roles as mother, wife, parent, and self. Using these four roles in a study of working women, Holahan and Gilbert found that women who perceived their work as a job rather than a career had greater role conflict. They also found that role conflict was contingent on such factors as spouse support, work commitment, and nature of the job (23:90).

Women managers are evaluated based on sex and position. The same is not true for male managers. This means that women can be out of role by sex and in role by position, in role by sex and out of role by position, out of role by sex and position, and in role by sex and position (48:650). The possibilities for role conflict, therefore, are much greater for women than men. When women do act contrary to their female role in order to perform competently on the job, they face the consequences of being disliked or excluded from their group (35:272).

The sex roles and expectations for women in management are normally based on their sex rather than their managerial abilities (8:122). Chacko found in his study on the effects of affirmative action programs on women that
women who thought they were hired because of their sex had less organizational commitment, less job, co-worker, and supervisor satisfaction, and more role conflict and ambiguity than those not selected due to their sex (8:119). Role ambiguity also occurs when women are given preferential treatment such as higher performance ratings than men performing equally. This may occur because a woman's performance as a manager is seen so out of role that it is given more value than an equal performance by a man (35:268-269).

Besides providing a source of role stress for women managers, sex role stereotypes have been used consistently to discriminate against women in both job selection and treatment (16:29). On their review of literature in this area, Nieva and Gutek found that (1) male applicants for managerial, scientific, and skilled positions were selected more often than equally qualified women; (2) men are rated more highly on job acceptability, service potential, and longevity than women; (3) women tend to be offered jobs at lower levels in the organization; (4) women are paid lower initial salaries than men doing the same jobs; and (5) male workers favor male supervisors (35:267-268).

In a study done for the Navy in 1978 to find the extent of racial and sexual discrimination among the ranks, it was found that "stereotypes or advancement inhibiting beliefs about women in the Navy" did exist. The study also

found that "virtually all men and the majority of white women would prefer to work for a man [36:15-16]."

Women also are discriminated against in promotion and training opportunities due to sex role stereotypes. Women are often banned from informal all-male groups within organizations and are excluded from mentoring systems, both of which hinder their chances for moving up in the organization (52:242). They may not receive the same training opportunities as men based on the perception that women have higher turnover rates, greater absenteeism, and less career commitment (9:595).

Stauder found similar results in the military environment. He says that for women to succeed in the military they have to overcome "the four behavioral systems that perpetuate organizational homogenity (sic) [46:14,17]." Organizational homogeneity implies that people, because of certain non-job related attributes such as sex, age, or race, are denied executive positions in an organization. The four behavioral systems he cites are visibility, property value, mentoring, and behavioral legal. Visibility is important since women must be perceived as being capable of success if they are to actually achieve success in an organization. Stauder says the lack of visibility women have traditionally had in the military is clearly evidenced by the reluctance of male military leaders to allow women to serve in general or flag officer positions.

Property value systems tend to assign women to lower level jobs with lower pay. The military is less discriminating in this area than the civilian community since it awards equal pay for equal rank. But, there may still be a tendency in the military to put women in lower quality or less demanding positions traditionally held by women. Mentoring systems also tend to discriminate against women in the military. This is due largely to the fact there are few women in senior enlisted and officer ranks to serve as mentors to junior service women, and men are hesitant to sponsor women. Stauder says discrimination by behavioral legal systems is less obvious but may be apparent in the Armed Services' attempt to limit the number of women in the military to a lesser percentage than in the national population (46:15,17).

Women managers suffer not only from discrimination in job selection, promotion, and training brought about by sex-role stereotyping, but also from the effects of role stress previously discussed. Role conflict and role ambiguity have been shown to lead to greater absenteeism, turnover, job dissatisfaction, anxiety, tension, distrust, and undesirable physiological symptoms such as high blood pressure (29:89). All these factors might negatively influence organizational effectiveness and job performance.

Sex Labeling of Occupations

The last two categories of sex stereotyping have received less research attention. They are sex labeling of occupations and sex value stereotyping. Sex labeling of occupations entails labeling an occupation as being either suitable for male or female jobholders. Nursing and teaching are two occupations traditionally labeled as female jobs. Manager and military leader, in contrast, are traditionally labeled as male occupations. Dowdell says males are more likely to view the military as a calling than are women due largely to social learning. Little girls do not usually grow up playing with guns, tanks, and submarines while aspiring to be soldiers. Little boys more commonly do (14:67).

Men and women tend to shy away from jobs labeled for the opposite sex. Izraeli says "the relationship between sex labeling and womens' absence from managerial roles is circular and reinforcing [26:55]." Since there are few women in management to serve as role models, fewer women go into management, and therefore management continues to be labeled as a male profession.

Bielby says occupations and professions in the United States have been highly segregated by sex and occupations held by women have lower status (6:7-8). Women have been slow to cross male job boundaries for several reasons.

These are: (1) individuals who hold positions out of their expected role are usually treated negatively; (2) employers have been hesitant to hire individuals applying for sexincongruent jobs; and (3) individuals see sex-atypical jobs as having lower prestige (35:271-277). Limited access to educational programs such as medical and law schools have also kept women out of nontraditional career fields in the past. Women were often steered into traditional occupations such as nursing and teaching by career guidance counselors.

But, largely due to affirmative action programs, many of these sex-labeled job boundaries are becoming less welldefined. Women are moving into occupations once dominated by males but not without the problems brought about by sex characteristic and sex role stereotyping previously discussed.

The Army, in a study done on the use of women in nontraditional roles, found that women saw themselves as more capable soldiers than did the men. But, as a whole, both male and female Army personnel sampled upheld many of the traditional sex stereotypes. They felt men were more likely to make better commanders and could endure extreme weather and outdoor living better than women (43:104). Thomas reports that a study of Navy women found that working in nontraditional jobs did pose special problems for the women. Navy women in nontraditional jobs were

more likely to experience discrimination and have less satisfaction with supervisors and their careers, but they appeared to receive greater self-esteem than women in traditional jobs (49:36).

In the Air Force, the trend has been for women to change from nontraditional to traditional jobs at twice the rate of men (38:48). The Army has experienced similar trends but believes they might be due to the lack of female role models in the nontraditional areas. The administrative areas where women have traditionally worked in the Army have more senior women to act as role models. Nontraditional areas such as military police, which were only recently opened to women, have no senior enlisted women or female officers to serve as role models (38:50).

Research has also dealt with specific problems women face as they move into occupations previously held only by males. Izraeli reports several problems women executives in multi-national corporations (MNCs) have experienced. One of the most demanding roles a woman in an MNC might hold is expatriate manager. This job requires that the executive move every four or five years. This presents special problems for the woman since every time she moves she must reestablish her status in the organization and overcome any sex role stereotypes existing there (26:55). This is a problem women managers in the military must also face. Women in this job are also faced with the sex

stereotypes existing not only in the U.S., but within other countries they must deal with. Again female military managers who serve overseas might face similar problems especially if they supervise local national civilians or must work closely with the local civilian population.

As more women move into nontraditional professions, the boundaries to entry begin to weaken. Female lawyers and doctors and male nurses and secretaries, while not the norm, are still more common and accepted today than ever before. The practice of sex labeling of occupations will probably never completely disappear, but affirmative action programs have constrained it.

Sex Value Stereotyping

Contraction of the second second

The last area affecting the ability of women to successfully perform as managers is sex value stereotyping. Sex value stereotyping occurs when female managers are judged ineffective based on their sex. Research has shown that sex value stereotyping does exist in our society. The results of some of these research studies are: (1) a group of college women valued the work of men more highly than identical work by women (52:231); (2) identical professional writings and paintings when attributed to female rather than male sources were rated lower; (3) male performance on a conceptual discrimination task was rated

more skillful than an equivalent female performance; and (4) females who reacted similarly to males in an emergency situation were rated less logical than their male counterparts (35:268). Other studies have shown that as more women enter a traditionally male profession the status of that profession declines (53:550).

Izraeli says that the implications of sex value stereotyping for women managers are far-reaching since individuals who have higher value have greater social status and thus more influence over others (26:55). Terborg agrees and says that the resistance toward women managers by their subordinates may not be due to the manager's sex but rather to her low status (48:656). Other researchers report that the problems of effective management are not due to sex but rather to the use of power (53:562).

Perceived Performance

To see if or to what extent stereotypes actually exist in the work environment, several research studies have examined the actual performances of women managers. The literature dealing with the actual performances of women managers as perceived by themselves, their peers, subordinates, and supervisors is difficult to organize or group. Research has been done in several individual areas,

but there are few areas where more than one research study has been done. Consequently it is difficult to draw any general conclusions from the literature.

Attribution Theory

One of the largest areas of study has been attribution theory. Attribution theory proposes that people attribute the successes or failures of others to factors either within or outside their control. Factors considered to be internal or within an individual's control are ability and effort. Factors considered to be external or outside one's control are luck and task difficulty (16:30).

Research has fairly consistently found that subordinates attribute successes of female managers to external factors and failures to internal factors. The reverse is true for the male manager. Garland and Price gave a questionnaire to 123 male undergraduates which asked them to describe the successes or failures of female managers described in the questionnaire. They found that males who had a positive attitude toward female managers attributed their successes to internal factors, whereas males who had more negative attitudes toward women maragers attributed their successes to external factors. He did not find the same relationship to hold true for the failures of women managers (16:32).

Stevens and DeNisi replicated Garland's study, only they used both males and females as evaluators. They found the same results for the male evaluators as in the previous study. But female evaluators' attitudes about women as managers did not have a significant effect on the factors used to attribute successes or failures to the female managers (47:360).

Ayers-Nachamkin found in a study of Chicano and Anglo students participating as managers that the female Anglo students were more likely to attribute their managerial successes to external factors, while the male Anglo students attributed their managerial successes to internal factors. One interesting but unexplained finding in the study was that this same relationship did not hold true for the male and female Chicano students (3:469).

Other research has shown that: (1) when females were perceived to be successful at male-related tasks their successes were attributed to luck, whereas a male's success on the same task was attributed to ability; (2) performance on female-related tasks did not have the same causal attributions; (3) female successes in school situations were attributed to easy courses, but male successes were attributed to ability; and (4) unsuccessful performances of females in school situations were attributed to lack of ability, but male failures were attributed to difficult courses (35:271-272). These studies seem to support the

idea that sexual stereotypes do present problems for the female manager.

Other Studies

In addition to attribution theory, research efforts have dealt with such issues as the decision-making abilities of female managers, the differences between female managers in traditional and nontraditional jobs, the use of power by women managers, the effect of the subordinate's sex on the evaluation of the female manager, leadership styles of women managers, the effects of having been previously supervised by a female manager on the subordinate's perception of her competence, how the sex of the manager impacts the subordinate's exposure to organizational vulnerability, how widely accepted women are as managers by middle- and upper-level male executives, and whether women actually manage differently than men.

Managerial Decision-Making

While researching the decision-making profiles of male and female managers in the banking profession, Humphreys and Shrode found there were more similarities than differences. They did find several interesting differences. Women seem to least prefer the decisions they find most difficult to make, whereas men prefer the

most difficult decisions. Women find task decisions the most important, while men consider personnel decisions more important. The latter difference seems to contradict the widely held belief that women are more people-oriented and men more task-oriented (25:50-51).

In another study on managerial decision-making, Muldrow and Bayton compared the decision-making processes of 200 male and female executives in federal agencies on a particular task. They found the male and female executives did not significantly differ in their abilities to make right decisions. They did find women were more reluctant to take risks than men, and their perceptions of the managerial role were somewhat androgynous (34:102,104).

Traditional vs Nontraditional Jobs

Moore and Rickel studied the differences between female managers in traditional and nontraditional jobs. They compared women managers and non-managers in the traditionally female nursing career field to those in the less traditional business field. They found women in nontraditional business roles were more achievementand production-oriented, saw themselves as possessing more male and managerial characteristics, considered the domestic role less important, and had fewer children than their counterparts in the more traditional nursing roles (33:317).

Several studies have been done on the use of power by women managers. Wiley and Eskilson gave a script to ninety-six experienced managers which described a male or female manager's use of power to persuade another individual to adopt their plan. Only 18 percent of the managers queried were women, which tends to limit the effectiveness of the study. But, the study found male persuaders were perceived to hold higher positions relative to their influence targets than were female persuaders, and women were more positively evaluated when they used reward rather than expert power while the reverse was true for males. Wiley and Eskilson feel this latter result should prove disturbing to female managers, since reward power is considered less reliable than expert power (54:673-675).

Ayers-Nachamkin found in a study of the sex and ethnic differences in the use of social power that there were more differences in the use of power between the two ethnic groups than between the groups differentiated by sex. She did find that:

Males, presumably because of their greater familiarity and comfort with the public role of a powerholder in society, attempted to influence their subordinates to a greater degree than did females [3:469].

Lord "investigated the contributions of rater sex and personality to perceptions of emergent leadership, influence, and social power" in a study of ninety-six male and female undergraduates at the University of Akron. He found the characteristics of the raters had a large impact on their perceptions of the use of power, leadership, and influence (31:181).

Sex of the Rater

Several studies have found that the sex of the rater in particular has a significant effect on the evaluation of women managers. Wexley and Pulakos studied 286 managersubordinate dyads comprising all four possible sex combinations to test Schmitt and Lappin's hypothesis that the greatest variance in performance ratings occurs when the rater and ratee are of the same sex. This should be due to the fact the rater should be more confident in his or her ratings when rating like individuals and thus, should use a wider range of the rating scale. The study did not substantiate the hypothesis. Instead, it found female subordinates displayed more variability when rating male supervisors than female, and female managers displayed more variable ratings for male subordinates than female subordinates. Wexley and Pulakos attribute the differences to the role ambiguity women experience in the work situation (51:433-437).

Shingledecker and Terborg found, contrary to other studies, that the sex of the manager and the subordinate do not have any effect on the subordinate's perception of the manager's effectiveness. This study dealt only with the area of performance appraisal. They found

Male and female subordinates did not report favoritism, they did not differentially evaluate their own performance, and they did not differentially evaluate their supervisors as a function of whether their supervisor was a man or a woman [45:10].

They feel that sex stereotypes probably do not have as much impact in the work climate as once thought.

Leadership Styles

Another area that has been researched is the leadership styles of male and female managers. Jago and Vroom report the results of two studies they did on the different styles of leadership used by male and female managers. In the first study they used both male and female managers and male and female college students to determine the leadership styles of men and women. This study found both female undergraduates and managers had a more participative managerial style than their male counterparts. In their second study, male and female managers were asked to rate the participativeness of other managers in mixed-sex training groups. This study reported men and women who

were found to be participative were rated equally well, but women who were determined to be autocratic were rated negatively while autocratic males received positive ratings (27:776).

Butterfield and Powell did a study with 616 male and female students in an undergraduate business program to determine if group performance and sex of the manager or subordinate influenced reactions to leadership. They found performance rather than sex of the manager effected the perceptions of the manager's behavior, and male and female managers using the same leadership styles were judged equally. They also found the preferred leadership style was one high in both consideration and initiating structure (7:138).

In a study done at West Point, Rice found sex of the leader did have an effect on the perceptions of that leader's effectiveness. He performed a laboratory experiment using 288 first-year cadets who were divided into seventy-two groups, half with male leaders and half with female leaders. There were no female followers in any of the groups. The groups were asked to perform two tasks, one a drawing task, the other a proposal task. He found that: (1) groups with female leaders performed less effectively than those with male leaders; (2) male followers who had traditional attitudes towards women as managers rated their female leaders more negatively;

(3) the nature of the task, whether perceived as masculine or feminine, had an effect on how well the female leader was perceived; (4) male leaders were perceived to have more expertise, whereas female leaders were perceived to make greater contributions to the group process; and (5) followers attributed the performance of the male leaders more often to external factors such as task difficulty than the female leaders (44:65). Rice finds these results interesting since they show some sex bias, but not to the degree that might be expected in this setting at the time the study was done.

Effects of Prior Supervision by a Female Manager

Several studies have shown that prior supervision by a female manager has a positive effect on the subordinate's perceptions of the performance of female managers (15:292). One recent study was performed using male and female managers in state public welfare agencies. This study found subordinates who had been previously supervised by a woman felt more positively about the motivation of women managers. Men in the higher and lower entry level positions had the most positive attitudes about the motivation of women managers. The women respondents with the most positive attitudes were in the middle and lower management positions. The experience of having

been previously supervised by a woman did not effect the subordinate's perceptions of female managerial ability (15:295). Another study done in the Army showed that soldiers who had been supervised by members of the opposite sex had more positive attitudes toward women in the Army than those who had not (43:109).

Good did a study for the Navy looking at four areas pertinent to its use of women. The four areas were perceptions of men and women by men and women; attitudes toward members of the opposite sex within the work group; relationships between sex-typed characteristics, status, and leadership; and sex differences in stress among supervisors (18:29). She used forty-four male and female supervisors and 184 male and female subordinates from the Bell Telephone Company as her sample.

In the first area, she found men who have never worked with women are more likely to invoke sexual stereotypes, but women accept men as peers, subordinates, and supervisors from the start and readily accept androgynous behaviors of men and women. In the second area, she found that men who had never worked with women preferred to work for and with men, but men who have worked with women accept them more readily as peers, supervisors, and subordinates. Her findings in the third area support the idea that

managers should be androgynous. The study concluded that

While supervision requires masculine traits, feminine characteristics--nurturance and supportiveness--are also perceived as descriptive of leaders by both followers and leaders [18:31].

The study also found female supervisors tend to experience more certainty and expect less conflict in supervisory roles than men, seemingly contradicting the idea that the role of manager presents a large amount of role conflict for women (18:30).

Disclosure of Information

Since the disclosure and transmission of information is extremely important in any organizational setting, Young studied what effect the sex of the manager would have on the willingness of the subordinate to disclose personal information important to the effectiveness of the organization. He used 120 male and female undergraduates to evaluate messages threatening to the subordinate but important to the function of the organization in both organic and mechanistic settings. He found individuals in an organic setting were more willing to disclose information, and they had more positive attitudes toward their leaders. He also found women tend to disclose more information than men. He did not find any effect of the sex of the supervisor on the willingness of the subordinate

to disclose information. Young says

The lack of any sex-title effect may mean that female achievement and managerial role occupancy is now culturally accepted--at least in the undergraduate college population [56:120-121].

Acceptance of Female Managers by Male Managers

Another area studied is how widely accepted female managers are by male managers. To determine this, Baron and Abrahamsen evaluated approximately 8,000 questionnaires completed by middle- and top-level male executives in the United States. They found that 49.4 percent of the executives accepted women in nontraditional or managerial roles. They also divided the responses given into two categories, beliefs about the capabilities of women executives and opinions about the relationships between men and women in management. They then developed a four-quadrant matrix to depict the four types of male managerial attitudes existing at the time of the survey. The first is "True Acceptance." The manager with this attitude sincerely believes that female managers are just as capable as male managers in every way. The second type is "Doesn't Fit In." This male manager will never question the professional abilities of the female manager, but he will bar her entry into any formal all-male groups she may wish to enter. He will also make no effort to precipitate change in the organization

to make women feel more accepted. The third type is "Use 'em." This individual is hard to identify because he claims to believe women are equally competent, but in reality he does not think women are as professionally competent as men. He assigns dull, unimaginative tasks to female subordinates and plays the role of father, big brother, or protector. The last type, "Chauvinist American Male Pig," is the most identifiable. This individual believes women are incompetent and readily admits it. Baron and Abrahamsen caution that, although the matrix model is useful, it is only "a first step in identifying potentially successful male-female working relationships and, as such, must not be used as the final word on who is or is not a male chauvinist [4:48-53]."

Management by Men Compared to Management by Women

Donnell and Hall did an extensive study examining the way males and females manage. The study looked at five areas of managerial achievement including managerial philosophy, motivation dynamics, participative practices, interpersonal competence, and managerial style. For each area, male and female managers were matched according to type of organization, organizational rank, age, and number of people supervised. They found "women in general, do not differ from men, in general, in the ways in which they administer the management process [13:76]." They found

only two differences between male and female managers. Women had more achievement motivation than men, but men were more open and candid with their colleagues than were females. They conclude by saying that

The disproportionately low numbers of women in management can no longer be explained away by the contention that women practice a different brand of management from that practiced by men [13:76].

Rand Report

One additional study was found which, although it did not specifically or solely address the issue of women in management, did provide insight into how well women supervisors are perceived in the military. This study was done by the Rand Corporation for the Department of Defense to provide a description of the officers and enlisted personnel in the U.S. Armed Forces. The data for the study was collected from a survey jointly designed and administered by the Rand Corporation and the Department of Defense (DOD). The survey was given to over 54,000 men and women in the four military services between 1978 and 1979 (12:1). One question on the survey asked the respondents whether they thought women could supervise as well as men. Twenty-eight percent of the enlisted males from the four military services either disagreed or strongly disagreed with the question while less than three percent of the female enlisted respondents disagreed (12:574). The

officer responses were extremely similar. Twenty-four percent of the male officers disagreed or strongly disagreed while only three percent of the female cfficers gave negative responses (12:579). The male Air Force enlisted personnel and officers gave the most favorable responses for women supervisors, while the Army personnel gave the least favorable responses (12:574-583). For the female respondents, the Marine enlisted personnel gave the least favorable responses (12:577,582). There was no way to tell from the study how many of the respondents had actually been supervised by a woman.

Conclusions

An apparent trend in all the literature is that, while sexual stereotypes do exist, attitudes toward women as managers are changing. As more and more men and women are supervised by female managers, the more they become accepted and the quicker the stereotypes begin to disappear. Many researchers feel that as more women move into management positions, more individuals will become aware of their abilities and will attribute their successes or failures to these abilities or lack of abilities and not to their sex. It may now be more appropriate to look at attributes, other than sex, to determine what makes a manager successful or not successful.

CHAPTER III

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

This chapter describes how the research data was collected, how the research sample was determined, and what statistical procedures were used to analyze the data.

Data Collection

The Leadership and Management Development Center (LMDC) located at Maxwell AFB, Alabama was established in 1979 to study leadership and management problems existing in organizations throughout the Air Force. Their "ultimate goal is to enhance USAF combat effectiveness through increased motivation and productivity [30:1]." To help meet this goal, LMDC developed an Organizational Assessment Package (OAP) which is a survey used to assess management or supervisory problems that an organization might have. LMDC uses the OAP to provide management consultation services to Air Force organizations at their request. Cice a request is made to LMDC, a Management Consultation Team is sent to the organization to administer the OAP to every member of the organization. The survey asks the members to answer certain demographic questions about themselves

and to respond to a series of questions about their work environment and their supervisors. After the results of the survey are collected and analyzed by LMDC, the Management Consultation Team returns to the organization to brief them on the results, to provide assistance to individual supervisors, and to conduct workshops and seminars as required. The OAP is also used "to provide a wide, varied, and creditable data base for research in the fields of leadership and management [40:1]." A complete copy of the OAP is provided in Appendix A.

The OAP consists of 109 questions that collect both demographic and attitudinal data from the respondent. The demographic data includes twenty-five items. The attitudinal data can be grouped to form twenty-seven factors. Twenty-four of the factors are statistical; three are non-statistical. A complete description of the factors and variables used in the OAP is provided in Appendix B. Each factor relates to corresponding questions on the survey which grouped provide a measurement for that factor. Responses to the questions are measured on a 1-to-7 fixed response scale. An answer of "1" to a question would indicate strong disagreement by the respondent; an answer of "7" would indicate strong agreement.

This survey has been previously validated. In 1979, prior to its formal use, Hendrix and Halverson used factor analysis to validate the first version of the OAP, which

included seventeen factors (19:15). The present version with twenty-seven factors was validated by LMDC (50:42).

The statistical factors in the OAP that this study investigated are management and supervision and supervisory communications climate. The first factor "measures support and guidance received and overall quality of supervision," while the second factor

Measures the degree to which the worker perceives that there is good rapport with supervisors; that there is a good working environment, that innovation for task improvement is encouraged, and that rewards are based upon performance [3:2].

Each of these factors uses eight survey questions to measure the subordinate's attitudes towards his or her supervisor. The questions related to the management and supervision factor ask for the subordinate's perceptions of the supervisor's ability to plan effectively, set high performance standards, encourage team work, represent the group at all times, establish good work procedures, clearly define his or her responsibilities to the group member, and to perform well under pressure. Questions used to measure the supervisory communications climate factor ask the subordinates to rate their supervisors on whether they: (1) ask subordinates for ideas on task improvement; (2) explain how the subordinate's job contributes to the overall mission; (3) help the subordinate set specific goals; (4) let the subordinate know when he or she is

doing a good job; (5) help the subordinate improve his/her performance; (6) insure that the subordinate receives adequate training; (7) provide feedback that improves the subordinate's job performance; and (8) provide frequent feedback on the subordinate's job performance.

This study also analyzed one non-statistical factor measured by the OAP. This factor is supervisory assistance which "measures the extent to which a supervisor helps the subordinate [40:10]." Three survey questions are used to measure this factor. The questions ask the subordinates if their supervisor takes time to help them when needed; if the supervisor lets the subordinate know when he is performing poorly; and if the subordinates need technical advice do they usually consult their supervisor.

These three factors were used to measure the subordinate's perception of his or her supervisor's effectiveness. They served as the criterion or dependent variable and were measured as interval level data. The data analysis also included certain demographic factors collected by the survey including sex, race, age, pay grade, time in service, time in present position, highest education level obtained, highest level of professional military education completed, number of people supervised, how often the supervisor holds group meetings, and how often group meetings are used to establish goals and solve problems. Several of these demographic factors,

described later in this chapter, were chosen to analyze their moderating effect on the subordinate's perception of supervisory effectiveness. They were used as endogenous or independent variables.

Sample Population

This study considered all supervisors serving in the active duty Air Force from 1980 to 1982 as its population. A supervisor is being defined here as any individual who has at least one other person directly reporting to him/ her. The sample population studied included all supervisors surveyed by LMDC using the OAP from 1980 to 1982. This sample population included approximately 10,000 active duty supervisors from ninety-three bases and nineteen major commands or special operating agencies. It is comprised of approximately 8,700 male and 700 female, enlisted, officer, and civilian supervisors.

Data Analysis

This section describes the statistical analysis used to analyze the data needed to answer the two research questions posed in the first chapter of this thesis.

In order to answer research question one, the three factors on the OAP dealing with management and supervision, supervisory communications climate, and supervisory assistance were used to measure the subordinate's perceptions of his/her supervisor's effectiveness. The responses for male supervisors were compared to those of female supervisors using a large sample test for the difference between two population means.

This statistical test assumes that the data are randomly selected in an independent manner from the two populations, the two populations being all active duty female supervisors and all active duty male supervisors in the Air Force. It also assumes that both sample sizes are large enough to have approximately normal sampling distributions and for the sample variances to provide good approximations for the population variances (32:328). Since any sample size over thirty is considered sufficiently large, my samples met this assumption. Since this is a parametric test, it also assumes that the data is at least interval level. This assumption was also met.

The SPSS subprogram T-Test, using independent samples, was used to compare the mean responses for male and female supervisors on each of the nineteen questions and two statistical factors to see if they were significantly different. The significance level was set at alpha equal to .05. The pooled variance t-value was used for all tests since the F-Test for equal population variances showed the population variances to be equal in all cases tested. The results of each test were used to determine if there was a significant difference between the perceived

effectiveness of male and female supervisors.

For research question two, the same questions and factors were used as dependent variables, but analysis of variance was used as the statistical method for analysis. The sample population was limited to female supervisors for this analysis. Selected demographic factors of the female supervisor were used as independent variables.

There was little research found addressing demographic characteristics of the supervisor and their effects on the perception of the supervisor's effectiveness by her subordinates. Two areas that received some attention in the literature were job commitment and race. Therefore, the OAP variables for ethnic background and career intentions were selected for analysis.

Three other areas not found in the research review but which seemed logical for analysis were the supervisor's experience, position in the organization, and education level. In the first area, supervisor's experience, there were four demographic variables examined. These were the supervisor's age, total years in the Air Force, total months in position, and total months in career field. To determine the effect of the supervisor's educational background on her perceived effectiveness, two demographic variables were selected for analysis. These were the professional military education (PME) completed by the supervisor and the highest level of civilian education

completed by the supervisor. The effect of the supervisor's position in the organization was analyzed using the supervisor's rank and her personnel status whether enlisted, civilian, or officer.

To use analysis of variance, certain assumptions must be met. The dependent variable must be at least interval level. Also, the population distributions must be normally distributed with equal variances and the samples should be randomly and independently selected (32:634). These assumptions were met.

The analysis of variance was performed using the SPSS subcommand ONEWAY for each demographic variable selected. The significance level was set at alpha equal to .05. The SPSS procedure ONEWAY was used instead of ANOVA since there was no evidence in the literature researched to suggest that there might be interactions between the selected demographic variables. The results of each analysis of variance were used to determine whether that demographic factor had an effect on the perceived effectiveness of the female supervisor. To make multiple comparisons among the subsets, the Duncan's multiple range test was used. This test was used since it is more powerful than other multiple range tests available in SPSS (55:198).

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

This chapter describes the results of the data analyses outlined in the preceding chapter. These analyses were performed to answer the two research questions posed in Chapter 1: (1) How effective are female supervisors compared to male supervisors in the Air Force as perceived by their subordinates? and (2) Do factors such as the supervisor's age, rank, time in service, educational level, race, and completion of professional military education affect the subordinate's perception of the effectiveness of the female supervisor?

The chapter is divided into three sections. The first two sections give the results of the analyses used to answer the two research questions. The third section describes and gives the results of a post facto analysis done on male supervisors using the same methodology and supervisory demographics used for the female supervisors in answering research question two.

Research Question One

To determine whether subordinates perceived female supervisors in the Air Force to be as effective

as male supervisors in the Air Force, the mean subordinate responses for the male and female supervisors were compared on the two statistical factors, one non-statistical factor, and the nineteen individual questions comprising these factors. The three factors and nineteen questions are listed in Table 4-1. Table 4-2 provides the test results.

For the two statistical factors, no significant difference was found between male and female supervisors. One question used to determine the statistical factor, management and supervision, was found to be significant. Female supervisors were rated significantly lower than males on their ability to handle pressure. For the nonstatistical factor, supervisory assistance, one of the three questions was found to be significant. Subordinates rated female supervisors significantly higher than males on the statement--When I need technical advice I usually go to my supervisor.

Since both statistical factors were found to be non-significant and only two of the nineteen questions were found to be significant, the results of the analysis for the first research question indicate that subordinates do not perceive any significant difference between the effectiveness of male and female supervisors in the Air Force.

TABLE 4-1

ĉĨ,

Analysis of Factors and Variables

FACTOR 818 - MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISION: Measures the degree to which the worker has high performance standards and good work procedures. Measures support and guidance received, and the overall quality of supervision.

-- -- - -

VARIABLE NUMBER	STATEMENT	STATEMENT
404	58	My supervisor is a good planner.
405	59	My supervisor sets high performance standards.
410	· 60	My supervisor encourages teamwork.
411	61	My supervisor represents the group at all times.
412	62	My supervisor establishes good work procedures.
413	63	My supervisor has made his responsibilities clear to the group.
445	64	My supervisor fully explains procedures to each group member.
416	65	My supervisor performs well under pressure.

FACTOR 819 - SUPERVISORY COMMUNICATIONS CLIMATE: Measures the degree to which the worker perceives that there is good rapport with supervisors: that there is a good working environment; that innovation for task improvement is encouraged, and that rewards are based upon performance.

VARIABLE NUMBER	STATEMENT NUMBER	STATEMENT		
426	67	My supervisor asks members for their ideas on task improvements.		
428	68	My supervisor explains how my job contributes to the overall mission.		
431	69	My supervisor helps me set specific goals.		
433	70	My supervisor lets n≥ know when 1 am doing a good job.		
435	72	My supervisor always helps me improve my per- formance.		
436	73	My supervisor insures that I get job related training when needed.		
437	74	My job performance has improved due to feedback received from my supervisor.		
442	76	My supervisor frequently gives me feedback on how well [am doing my job.		

SUPERVISORY ASSISTANCE (NOT A STATISTICAL FACTOR): Measures the extent to which a supervisor helps the subordinate.

VARIABLE NUMBER	STATEMENT NUMBER	STATEMENT
424	66	My supervisor takes time to help me when needed.
434	71	My supervisor lets me know when I am doing a poor job.
439	75	When I need technical advice, I ususally go to My supervisor.

Variable	Females		Males		
	Number of Cases	Mean	Number of Cases	Mean	2-Tail Probability
Z818	693	5.0081	8580	5.0024	0.906
Z404	708	4.9022	8683	4.8911	0.841
Z405	710	5.2911	8687	5.2504	0.419
Z410	708	5.1217	8674	5.1754	0.314
Z411	705	4.8694	8671	4.8912	0.706
Z412	708	4.9236	8682	4.8863	0.481
Z413	702	5.0050	8676	5.0242	0.720
Z445	705	4.7712	8660	4.7194	0.344
Z416	709	4.9488	8676	5.0969	0.010*
Z819	701	4.6842	8593	4.6274	0.293
Z426	710	5.1389	8679	5.0823	0.306
Z428	707	4.5939	8675	4.6303	0.504
Z431	709	4.3379	8682	4.3228	0.781
Z433	709	4.8978	8688	4.8001	0.085
Z435	709	4.5808	8678	4.5536	0.606
Z436	707	4.7438	8659	4.7112	0.541
%43 7	706	4.4815	8679	4.4424	0.488
Z442	709	4.5089	8681	4.4283	0.149
Z424	709	5.4863	8684	5.4680	0.720
Z434	706	5.3761	8673	5.3649	0.811
Z439	709	4.7553	8675	4.5860	0.005*

TABLE 4-2

Comparison of Means for Male and Female Supervisors

* significant at alpha equal to .05

Research Question Two

To determine what effect certain demographic characteristics of the female supervisor might have on her effectiveness as perceived by her subordinates, oneway analysis of variance was performed using the same nineteen questions and three factors used in answering the first research question. The demographic variables used, as discussed in the preceding chapter, were age, months in present position, years in the Air Force, months in career field, personnel category (officer, enlisted, or civilian), rank, professional military education (PME), educational level, career intentions, and ethnic background. For each demographic variable, the analysis of variance determined whether that demographic characteristic had a significant effect on the perceived effectiveness of the supervisor. and if one or more subsets of that demographic variable was significantly different from the others. The results for the ten demographic variables follow. Tabular results are contained in Appendix C.

<u>Aqe</u>

The first four demographic variables analyzed deal with the experience of the supervisor. They are age, months in position, years in Air Force, and months in career field. The first of these analyzed was age.
The approximately 700 female supervisors in the sample comprised seven different age groups measured by years. The age groups were: (1) eighteen to twenty-five; (2) twenty-six to thirty; (3) thirty-one to thirty-five; (4) thirty-six to forty; (5) forty-one to forty-five; (6) forty-six to fifty; and (7) fifty-one or older. The cell sizes for the test ranged from 52 in the forty-one to forty-five age group to 163 in the twenty-six to thirty age group.

The results of the analysis of variance showed that age did have a significant effect on the two statistical factors and on thirteen of the sixteen questions used to determine these factors. Two of the three questions used in the non-statistical factor were also significantly affected by the age of the supervisor. The Duncan's multiple range test showed that there was more than one significant subset for all the variables analyzed. Although the subsets varied for each variable, the general trend was that supervisors in the younger age groups scored significantly lower than those in the older age groups. The eighteen to twenty-five and twenty-six to thirty age groups scored significantly lower than the thirty-one to thirty-five and thirty-six to forty age groups on all of the tests.

Thus, the results suggest that age of the supervisor does have a very significant effect on how well that super-

visor is perceived by her subordinates. The analysis also indicates that older supervisors are perceived as being more effective than younger supervisors.

Months in Position

This demographic variable was divided into seven groups: (1) less than one month; (2) one to six months; (3) six to twelve months; (4) twelve to eighteen months; (5) eighteen to twenty-four months; (6) twenty-four to thirty-six months; and (7) greater than thirty-six months. The smallest group was the less than one month group containing approximately twenty supervisors. The largest group was the greater than thirty-six months group which contained approximately 159 female supervisors.

Months in position was not found to have a significant effect on either of the statistical variables. Only two of the sixteen questions comprising the two statistical factors were found to be significant. Months in position did have a significant effect on the supervisor's ability to explain how the subordinate's job contributed to the overall mission and on the supervisor's ability to make her responsibilities clear to the group.

Two of the three questions comprising the nonstatistical factor were found to be significantly effected by the supervisor's months in position. Months in position

had a significant effect on the supervisor's willingness to take time to help subordinates and to let them know when they were doing a poor job.

The Duncan's multiple range test found more than one significant subset for months in position for both of the statistical factors and seven of the nineteen questions. The general trend was for supervisors with the least time in position to be rated lower than those with the most time in position. In all the tests, the six to twelve months group scored significantly lower than the greater than thirty-six months group.

The results of this analysis are not as clear cut as that for age. The supervisor's months in position does not appear to be as significant a factor as age of the supervisor. When months in position does appear to be significant, supervisors with the greatest time in position are perceived to be more effective than those with the least time in position.

Years in Air Force

The third demographic variable, years in Air Force, was comprised of four groups. These groups were less than four years; four to eight years; eight to twelve years; and greater than twelve years. The sample included approximately 650 female supervisors spread almost equally among the four year-groups.

Years in Air Force was found to have a significant effect on both statistical factors, including fifteen of the sixteen questions used to determine these factors. Two of the three non-statistical questions were also found to be significantly effected by the supervisor's time in the Air Force. The multiple range tests found more than one significant subset for both statistical factors and seventeen of the nineteen questions analyzed. The subsets varied somewhat for each variable, but the general trend was for the supervisors with the lesser time in the Air Force to be perceived as less effective than those with the greater time in the Air Force. In almost all cases, supervisors with less than eight years in the Air Force scored significantly lower than supervisors with greater than eight years in the Air Force.

The results of this analysis show that the supervisor's time in the Air Force does have a very significant effect on how her subordinates perceive her effectiveness. Female supervisors with more time in the Air Force are perceived to be more effective than female supervisors with less time in the Air Force.

Months in Career Field

The fourth demographic variable analyzed was months in career field. This variable was comprised of three

groups: (1) less than eighteen months; (2) eighteen to thirty-six months; and (3) greater than thirty-six months. The number of supervisors in the sample ranged from approximately sixty in the less than eighteen months group to approximately 575 in the greater than thirty-six months group.

Neither of the statistical factors was found to be significantly affected by this variable. Only one of the nineteen questions was found to be significantly effected. Months in career field did have a significant effect on the subordinate's willingness to consult the supervisor for technical advice.

The multiple range tests found more than one significant subset for this variable for only three of the nineteen questions. For the one question that was found to be significantly affected by months in career field, supervisors in the two groups with the lesser time in career field were rated significantly less effective than those in the group with the greatest time in career field. For the other two questions where the global F-Test was not significant, but the Duncan's multiple range test was significant, the eighteen to thirty-six months group scored significantly lower than the greater than thirty-six months group.

The results of this analysis indicate that the supervisor's number of months in her career field seems to

have almost no effect on how well she is perceived by her subordinates. The multiple range test was significant in too few cases to draw any strong conclusions about which subsets are perceived to be most effective.

For the four variables dealing with the experience of the supervisor, two--age and years in Air Force--were found to be highly significant, and two--months in position and months in career field--were found to have very little significance on the perceived effectiveness of female supervisors.

Personnel Category

The next two variables analyzed deal with the status of the supervisor in the organization. These two variables are personnel category and rank. The first variable analyzed was personnel category. This variable was comprised of three groups--officer, enlisted, and civilian supervisors. There were approximately 200 officer, 200 enlisted, and 300 civilian supervisors in the sample.

Neither of the two statistical factors was found to be significantly affected by the personnel category of the supervisor. Seven of the sixteen questions comprising these two factors were found to be significantly affected. Only one of the three non-statistical questions was significantly affected.

The multiple range test was significant for one of the statistical factors and eleven of the nineteen questions. The results were somewhat varied. In half of the cases, enlisted personnel scored significantly lower than civilians. In one-third of the cases, officers scored significantly lower than civilians. In the other two cases, enlisted supervisors scored lower than officers. The general trend was for civilians to have the highest ratings and enlisted personnel the lowest.

The results of this analysis showed that the personnel category of the supervisor had some effect on the subordinate's perception of the effectiveness of the supervisor, but that the effects were not highly significant and were somewhat mixed as evidenced by the multiple range tests. In those cases where the multiple range test was significant, the general trend was for enlisted supervisors to score significantly lower than civilian supervisors.

<u>Rank</u>

To determine the effect of rank of the supervisor on perceived effectiveness, the three personnel categories were separately analyzed by pay grade.

Enlisted Supervisors. For the first category, enlisted rank, the variable was divided into three groups--E-1 through E-4; E-5; and E-6 through E-9. The first and

last group contained approximately thirty-five supervisors; the E-5 group contained approximately 120 supervisors.

and a start of the second s

Enlisted rank had no significant effect on any of the statistical factors or nineteen questions. The multiple range tests also found no cases where there was more than one significant subset for enlisted rank.

Officer Supervisors. Officer supervisors were divided by rank into three groups for analysis. The groups were lieutenants, captains, and field grade officers. There were approximately ninety lieutenants, seventy captains, and forty field grade officers in the sample.

Officer rank had a significant effect on both statistical factors and seventeen of the nineteen questions analyzed. The two questions that were not significantly effected both dealt with the supervisor's willingness to let the subordinate know when he was doing a good or poor job.

The multiple range tests found more than one significant subset of officer rank for all except one variable analyzed. In all cases, lieutenants scored significantly lower than captains or field grade officers. In one-fourth of the cases, captains scored significantly higher than lieutenants, and in the remaining cases, field grade officers scored significantly higher than lieutenants. Captains scored significantly higher on questions related to the statistical factor, supervisory communications

climate. Field grade officers scored significantly higher on those questions relating to the management and supervision factor.

These results indicate that the rank of the officer supervisor does have a very significant effect on how effective she is perceived to be by her subordinates. Lieutenants are perceived as being less effective supervisors in all cases. Captains are seen to be more effective communicators, and field grade officers the more effective managers.

<u>Civilian Supervisors</u>. To analyze the effect of rank of civilian supervisors, the civilian sample was divided into three groups: GS-8 and lower; GS-9 to GS-12; and greater than GS-12. There were approximately 100 civilian supervisors in the first two groups, and thirty in the third group.

Rank of the civilian supervisor was found to have no significant effect on any of the statistical factors or questions analyzed. The multiple range tests also found no significant results.

For the two variables dealing with the status of the supervisor in the organization, the results were mixed. Personnel category had a slightly significant effect on the perceived effectiveness of the supervisor, with enlisted personnel generally being rated less effective than civilians. Rank was found to be totally non-significant

for enlisted and civilian supervisors but highly significant for officer supervisors. Lieutenants were found to be the least effective supervisors; captains the better communicators; and field grade officers the better managers.

Professional Military Education

The next two variables analyzed dealt with the educational background of the supervisor. Professional military education (PME) and educational level were the two variables examined. The level of PME completed by the supervisor was divided into eight groups. The groups were: none completed; Phase 1 and Phase 2; Phase 3; Phase 4; Senior NCO Academy; Squadron Officer School; Intermediate Service School; and Senior Service School. The first four, after none completed, are all enlisted PME. The last three categories deal only with officer PME. There were no female supervisors who had completed the Senior NCO Academy, so this category was eliminated. The number of supervisors in the other categories ranged from fourteen in the Senior Service School to 380 in the none completed category.

PME had no effect on either of the statistical variables. Only three of the nineteen questions analyzed were found to be significantly effected by PME. PME did seem to have an effect on the supervisor's ability to plan, to set

high performance standards, and to explain to subordinates how their jobs related to the overall mission.

The multiple range tests found more than one significant subset for PME in three of the questions just discussed and for one additional question. The additional question dealt with the supervisor's willingness to provide job-related training for subordinates. The subsets varied considerably for each question. In three of the four cases where there was more than one significant subset, supervisors completing intermediate service schools were rated most effective. In the other case, supervisors completing senior service schools were found to be the most effective at setting high performance standards. In three of the four cases, supervisors who had completed Phase 3 training were found to be the least effective supervisors. The one exception was that supervisors with no PME were found least effective in insuring their subordinates received jobrelated training.

The results, then, of this analysis showed PME to have almost no significant effect on how effective the supervisor is perceived to be by her subordinates. The multiple range tests were also significant in too few cases to draw any general conclusions about the effect of PME on the supervisor's perceived effectiveness.

Educational Level

The educational level of the supervisor was divided into six categories. They were: did not complete high school; high school graduate; completed less than two years of college; completed more than two years of college; bachelors degree completed; and masters degree or doctorate completed. The number of supervisors in each group ranged from seventeen in the group who did not complete high school to 185 in the group with bachelors degrees.

Educational level was found to have no effect on either of the statistical factors and fourteen of the nineteen questions. Four of the five questions that were found to be significantly effected were concerned with the statistical factor, supervisory communications climate.

The multiple range tests found more than one significant subset for ten of the nineteen questions and for one statistical factor. In all but two cases, supervisors with masters degrees or doctorates were rated most effective. The two exceptions were that supervisors without a high school diploma were rated more effective than supervisors with a bachelors degree on their willingness to let subordinates know they are doing a poor job, and supervisors with only a high school education were rated more highly on their ability to provide technical advice than supervisors with a bachelors degree. The

results for the least effective supervisors were mixed, although in nine of the eleven cases, supervisors with bachelors degrees were ranked in the subset with the lowest scores.

Educational level and PME, then, were found to have very little effect on how well the female supervisor was perceived by her subordinates. Multiple range tests were significant in too few cases to draw any general conclusions for either PME or educational level.

Career Intentions

The last two variables examined were career intentions and ethnic background. Career intentions of the supervisor were divided into six groups: (1) plan to retire in next twelve months; (2) plan the Air Force as a career; (3) likely to remain in the Air Force as a career; (4) may stay in the Air Force; (5) will probably not make the Air Force a career; and (6) will separate as soon as possible. The number of supervisors in each group ranged from only twenty-two supervisors planning retirement to almost 300 planning to make the Air Force a career.

The career intentions of the supervisor were found to be significant for both statistical factors and fifteen of the nineteen questions analyzed. The management and supervision factor and all eight of the questions pertaining to it were found to be significantly effected

by the supervisor's career intentions.

The multiple range tests also found highly significant effects of career intentions. More than one significant subset was found for all but two questions. In all cases where there was more than one significant subset, supervisors planning to make the Air Force a career were ranked in the subset with the highest scores while supervisors planning probably not to make the Air Force a career were ranked in the subset with the lowest mean scores.

The results indicate that the career intentions of the supervisor have a highly significant effect on how effective she is perceived to be by her subordinates. The general trend seems to be that supervisors planning to make the Air Force a career are perceived to be more effective than supervisors who probably will not make it a career.

Ethnic Background

The last demographic variable analyzed was ethnic background of the supervisor. This variable was divided into five groups--Indian, Asian, black, Hispanic, and white. Results from this test may be somewhat questionable due to the small cell sizes in some of the subgroups. There were only six Indian, seven Asian, and twentythree Hispanic supervisors in the survey. There were

approximately seventy black and over 550 white supervisors in the sample.

Ethnic background of the supervisor was not found to be significant for either statistical factor. It was found to have a significant effect on only four questions, two of them from the non-statistical factor, supervisory assistance.

The multiple range tests found only one case that was significant. Black supervisors were perceived to be less effective in explaining how the subordinate's job related to the overall mission than white supervisors.

The results of the analysis indicate that ethnic background of the female supervisor has almost no effect on her perceived effectiveness. The multiple range tests also provided no significant results.

Summary

The analysis for research question two showed that certain demographic characteristics of the supervisor do have an effect on how well the supervisor is perceived by her subordinates. Three of the ten demographic variables selected for study were found to be highly significant. These were age, years in Air Force, and career intentions. Supervisors who were older, had more time in the Air Force, and planned to make the Air Force a career were judged more effective by their subordinates.

Rank was found to be highly significant for officers, but completely non-significant for civilians and enlisted personnel. Lieutenants were found to be the least effective supervisors; captains the better communicators; and field grade officers the better managers. Ethnic background, educational level, PME, months in position, and personnel category were found to have little effect, although civilian supervisors were judged more effective than enlisted supervisors in most cases.

AND AND AND A PROPERTY AND A PROPERTY OF

Post Facto Analysis

The analysis performed for research question one showed that subordinates found female supervisors to be just as effective as male supervisors. The analysis for research question two identified certain demographic factors, other than sex of the supervisor, that had an effect on the supervisor's perceived effectiveness. Once these analyses were performed, it seemed only logical to do a post facto analysis to see if the ten demographic variables had the same effect for male supervisors as for female supervisors. This analysis for male supervisors employed the same methodology used for female supervisors in answering research question two. The demographic variables were divided into the same subgroups used for female supervisors. The results of the post facto analysis are contained in Appendix C.

The results for each of the ten demographic variables for male supervisors and a comparison of these results to those found for female supervisors follow.

<u>Age</u>

The sample sizes for the age subgroups ranged from 550 in the oldest category to almost 2,200 in the thirtysix to forty category. Age of male supervisors was found to be significant for both statistical factors, and for all three questions comprising the non-statistical factor. Fifteen of the nineteen questions were significantly effected by the age of the supervisor. These results were extremely similar to those found for female supervisors.

The multiple range tests for male supervisors also found similar results. In almost all cases, male supervisors, like female supervisors, were found to be more effective when older, especially in the thirty-six to fifty age groups. The two exceptions were that older male supervisors were rated lower than younger supervisors on their willingness to tell subordinates when they were doing a poor job, and on their tendency to be sought by subordinates for technical advice.

Months in Position

The sample sizes for the months in position subgroups ranged from 900 in the eighteen to twenty-four category to

1,865 in the six to twelve category. This variable was found to be more significant for male supervisors than female supervisors. The statistical factor, supervisory communications climate, and seven of its eight questions were found to be significantly effected by months in position of male supervisors. Male supervisors with the greater months in position were found to be more effective than those with the lesser months in position.

Years in Air Force

Sample sizes in the years in Air Force subgroups ranged from thirty-six in the less than one year category to 3,625 in the eight to twelve year category. This variable was highly significant for male supervisors as it was for female supervisors. All questions and statistical factors analyzed were found to be significantly affected by this variable. The multiple range tests indicated that male supervisors, like female supervisors, are perceived as being more effective when they have had more time in the service.

Months in Career Field

Sample sizes in the months in career field subgroups ranged from eleven in the less than one month category to almost 7,300 in the greater than thirty-six months

category. Again, the results for this variable were almost identical to those found for female supervisors. Only three of the nineteen questions, and neither of the statistical factors, were found to be significantly effected by months in career field. There were no significant multiple range test results for male supervisors. This variable had almost no effect for male and female supervisors.

Personnel Category

In the personnel category, subgroup sizes for male supervisors ranged from 1,022 civilian supervisors to almost 5,000 enlisted supervisors. Personnel category was found to be highly significant for male supervisors, unlike female supervisors. Only one of the variables analyzed was not found to be significantly affected by this variable. The multiple range tests found some similar and dissimilar results for male and female supervisors. Enlisted male and female supervisors generally were rated least effective; but whereas civilians were generally rated as the most effective female supervisors, officers were generally judged the most effective male supervisors. Male supervisors had two notable reversals to this trend. Enlisted supervisors were rated the highest on their ability to provide negative feedback to subordinates and to provide

technical advice. The same reversal in trend was seen in the analysis of age for male supervisors.

Rank

Rank of male supervisors was found to have a significant effect whether the supervisor was enlisted, civilian, or officer. The range of sample sizes for the enlisted rank subsets went from 285 in the E-4 or below category to 2,870 in the E-6 and above category. For enlisted male supervisors, the general trend was for the E-6 to E-9 group to be rated significantly higher than the other two groups. For female supervisors, enlisted rank had no significant effect.

Subgroups for officer rank ranged in size from 300 lieutenants to 1,265 field grade officers. Officer rank was significant for male and female supervisors. Male and female lieutenants scored significantly lower as supervisors +han did captains and field grade officers with one exception for male supervisors. Field grade officers were rated lowest on their willingness to let subordinates know when they were doing a poor job. There was less differentiation between the ratings of captains and field grade officers for the male supervisors than for the female supervisors.

The sample sizes in the civilian rank subgroups ranged from sixty-four GS-8s and below to 515 GS-13s

and above. For civilian male supervisors, the general trend was for GS-8s and below to be rated the least effective, and for GS-13s and above to be rated the most effective. This trend was again notably reversed for the question dealing with the supervisor's willingness to give negative feedback to the subordinate. Civilian rank was not significant for female supervisors.

Professional Military Education

For PME, the sample sizes in the subgroups ranged from 544 in the Senior Service School group to almost 1,600 in the none completed category. PME was found to be extremely significant for male supervisors. It had a significant effect on all of the variables analyzed. For females, only three of the variables analyzed were found to be significant. The multiple range tests for male supervisors also provided some very significant trends. In all but two cases, the more PME a male supervisor completed, the higher he was rated by his subordinates. The first exception dealt with the ability of the supervisor to provide technical advice to subordinates. The second exception dealt with the same variable (434), whose results were notably reversed for civilian, officer, and enlisted rank. In the first case, supervisors who had completed no PME or who had completed one of the officer

service schools were rated the lowest. In the second exception, supervisors who had completed officer service schools were rated significantly lower than those who had completed enlisted PME.

Educational Level

The subgroup sample sizes for educational level ranged from eighty-eight in the no high school diploma category to 2,200 in the completed high school category. The educational level of the male supervisor was found to have a significant effect on his perceived effectiveness. As with PME, all questions and statistical factors were found to be significantly effected by the demographic variable. The educational level of female supervisors was found to be much less significant. In all but two cases, male supervisors with a bachelors degree or higher were rated the most effective. The two exceptions (434, 439) were the same found for PME, age, and personnel category. For the question dealing with technical advice sought from the supervisor, supervisors with masters and bachelors degrees were rated lower than those with doctorates or no college degree or high school diploma. For the other exception, supervisors with a bachelors degree or higher were rated significantly lower than those with no college degree or high school diploma.

Career Intentions

The sample sizes in the subgroups for career intentions ranged from 240 in the group of supervisors who would probably not make the Air Force a career to almost 5,000 in the group who plan to make the Air Force a career. Career intentions was found to be highly significant for male supervisors, as well as female supervisors. The general trend found by the multiple range tests was also the same for male and female supervisors. Supervisors, whether male or female, who intend to make the Air Force a career were rated significantly higher than supervisors who probably will not make the Air Force a career.

Ethnic Background

STATISTICS OF STATISTICS

The last demographic variable examined was ethnic background. The subset sample sizes ranged from seventyone Indian to almost 7,000 white male supervisors. Ethnic background for the male supervisor, unlike the female supervisor, was found to be highly significant. For male supervisors, the multiple range tests generally showed that black supervisors are rated less effective than white supervisors. This trend was, again, notably reversed for the question dealing with the supervisor's willingness to tell the subordinate that he or she is doing a poor job. For this question, white supervisors scored significantly

lower than black supervisors. Similar trends were not found for female supervisors.

Summary

Contraction of the

The results of the post facto analysis showed that the same demographic variables that were highly significant for female supervisors were also highly significant for male supervisors. These variables were age, years in Air Force, officer rank, and career intentions. But, there were several variables that were found to be much more significant for male supervisors than for female supervisors. These were months in position, personnel category, enlisted and civilian rank, PME, educational level, and ethnic background. One other apparent difference between male and female supervisors relates to the two questions dealing with the supervisor's willingness to give the subordinate negative feedback and the supervisor's ability to provide the subordinate technical advice. For the first question, the results for male supervisors were reversed for the age, rank, PME, educational level, and ethnic background variables. For the second question, results were also reversed for male supervisors for the age, personnel category, PME, and educational level variables.

Summary

This chapter has provided the results of the analyses used to answer the two research questions posed in Chapter One and the results of the post facto analysis performed for male supervisors. For the first research question, analysis found that subordinates do not perceive any difference between the effectiveness of male and female supervisors in the Air Force. Analysis performed for the second research question found that certain demographic variables of the female supervisor do affect the subordinate's perceptions of her effectiveness. These variables were age, years in Air Force, officer rank, and career intentions. The post facto analysis performed for male supervisors to see if their perceived performance was effected by the same demographic variables as female supervisors foun some similarities and dissimilarities. The perceived effectiveness of male supervisors was affected by age, years in Air Force, officer rank, and career intentions similar to female supervisors, but unlike female supervisors, male supervisors' ratings were also affected by months in position, personnel category, civilian and enlisted rank, PME, educational level, and ethnic background.

CHAPTER V

RECOMMENDATIONS AND CONCLUSIONS

This research study grew out of a concern for the increasing number of women serving in the military, especially those in supervisory positions, and the effect their presence might have on military readiness.

To see how effectively women have performed in both the civilian and military communities to date, a literature review was performed. This review gave a brief background history on the involvement of women in the U.S. military and then summarized research done on women managers in both the civilian and military work climates. This research examined two areas: (1) the predicted performance of women as managers due to sex stereotypes at work in management climates, and (2) the actual job performance of women managers as perceived by themselves, their supervisors, subordinates, and peers.

The literature surfaced two important issues needing further study. The first was the noticeable lack of research dealing with the actual performances of women managers. The second was the growing belief among researchers that factors other than sex of the manager



ALARA?

Conversion and

1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
1

MICROCOPY RESOLUTION TEST CHART NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS-1963-A are becoming more important indicators of managerial effectiveness.

In order to address these issues, two research questions were posed. The research questions attempted first to determine if sex of the manager did have an effect on perceived effectiveness, and second to find factors other than sex of the supervisor that effect perceived performance. Since the second research question dealt only with female supervisors, a post facto analysis was performed to see if the same factors affected male supervisors.

To answer these questions, the OAP data base from the Leadership and Management Development Center was used. This data base contained survey responses from Air Force subordinates including their judgments on the effectiveness of their supervisors, both male and female. This data base allowed for the actual performances of female managers in the Air Force to be studied.

The results of the analyses for the two research questions and the post facto analysis tended to support the belief of other researchers that sex of the manager is no longer the most important factor or primary indicator of managerial effectiveness.

Research Question One

The analysis performed for the first research question found that subordinates did not perceive any significant difference between the effectiveness of male and female supervisors. Of the two statistical factors and nineteen questions analyzed, only two were found to be significantly different for male and female supervisors. Male supervisors were judged to work better under pressure than female supervisors. This result may be due to sex stereotypes existing in the work environment. Women have long been considered the weaker sex and have been traditionally expected to react negatively to pressure or crisis situations.

On the one question where female supervisors were rated higher, subordinates were more likely to seek out female supervisors for technical advice than male supervisors. This result might be due to the female sample population being lower in rank on the whole than the male sample population and not to any real difference in technical expertise. The greatest proportion of female supervisors fell in the lowest two civilian, enlisted, and officer rank categories. The greatest proportion of male supervisors fell in the highest rank categories for enlisted, civilian, and officer personnel. As Air Force supervisors move up in the ranks, they are encouraged to

85

hone their skills more as managers and less as technicians. Thus, the higher their rank the less likely they will be consulted on technical matters. This same issue surfaces in the post facto analysis.

Research Question Two

The results of the analysis for the second research question identified four demographic factors that did affect the perceived effectiveness of the female supervisor. These were age, years in Air Force, officer rank, and career intentions. Female supervisors who were older, had more time in the Air Force, and planned to make the Air Force a career were perceived as more effective supervisors. Female supervisors who were captains or field grade officers were also perceived to be more effective supervisors than lieutenants.

Two of these four variables, age and years in Air Force, can be linked to the experience level of the supervisor. One question raised by the analysis, then, is why months in position and months in career field were not also significant for female supervisors. Months in position was significant for four questions and the multiple range tests showed a fairly strong trend for supervisors serving in positions longer to be judged more effective. Since research has shown that it often takes women managers a much longer time to be accepted in an

organization, it is surprising that the results were not more significant. Similarly, months in career field was found to significantly effect only one variable analyzed. More significant results may not have been found due to the disparity in the subgroup sample sizes. Eighty percent of the sample population was contained in the group of supervisors with more than thirty-six months in their career field. The Duncan's multiple range test provides only approximate results for unequal cell sizes.

Since officer rank had a significant effect, it is surprising that enlisted and civilian rank did not. One explanation is that officer rank can also be linked to the supervisor's experience level. The officers with the least experience, lieutenants, were rated consistently lower than captains and field grade officers with more experience. This same relationship may not hold true for civilian supervisors. Many of the civilian jobs traditionally held by women have been secretarial or clerical positions which fall in the lower civil service ranks. Women in these positions may be very experienced at their jobs, but still hold the lower civil service rank assigned to that position. Women in the civilian sector could spend their whole careers as GS-8s or below. Female lieutenants, on the other hand, are either promoted to captain or separated.

Experience level may also partially explain why enlisted rank was not significant for female supervisors.

Female lieutenants, due to their status as officers and not to their experience or job competence, more often hold managerial positions than do women in the lower enlisted ranks. For lower ranking enlisted personnel, it is usually those who have proven themselves to be the most competent and reliable workers that are moved into managerial or supervisory positions early in their careers. This difference may account for officer rank being more significant than enlisted rank. Unequal cell sizes may have also contributed to the less significant findings for civilian and enlisted rank.

Post Facto Analysis

The results of the post facto analysis found that the ratings for male supervisors, like female supervisors, were significantly effected by age, years in Air Force, career intentions, and officer rank. But, the most interesting finding of this analysis was not the similarities but the dissimilarities found between male and female supervisors. Male supervisors, unlike female supervisors, were found to be significantly effected by months in position, personnel category, civilian and enlisted rank, educational level, PME, and ethnic background. Also, on two variables (434 and 439), the ratings for male supervisors were reversed from the findings for the other variables. This same reversal was not found for female supervisors.

Personnel category may have been more significant for male supervisors than female supervisors because, for males, it was a truer indicator of organizational status than for females. Women, due to sexual stereotypes present in the work environment, may be perceived as having the same low status regardless of their personnel category. Males, on the other hand, are more likely to be afforded status based on the position they hold in the organization.

This same relationship may hold for rank. Rank was significant for male supervisors whether civilian, enlisted, or officer. It was significant for female supervisors only if they were officers. As pointed out earlier, officer rank for female supervisors was probably significant due to their experience level and not to their status in the organization. Again, subordinates are probably less likely to afford the same status to women who are intermediate or senior level enlisted and civilian sugarvisors as they would to men in these same positions.

A similar relationship may hold true for ethnic background. Ethnic background was found to be highly significant for male supervisors but non-significant for female supervisors. Since females are already in the minority in the military, subordinates may not further differentiate them by race. Contrarily, males being clearly in the majority, subordinates are more likely to group or differentiate them due to their race.

Subordinates in rating women are probably so influenced by sexual stereotyping that stereotyping by race becomes less significant. Subordinates, not facing the same types of sexual stereotypes for male supervisors, may rely more heavily on ethnic stereotypes in rating male supervisors.

Salar and a start

Educational background and PME were also highly significant for male supervisors but not for female supervisors. For male supervisors, the completion of PME and higher levels of education had a very positive effect on their ratings as supervisors. It is somewhat disturbing that the same effects were not found for female supervisors, since the Air Force strongly encourages its members to pursue advanced educational and professional military training. This finding is particularly disturbing for PME since the Air Force controls and directs the program. Does this finding indicate that PME is not meeting the special needs of female supervisors, or does it show that women are better supervisors in the beginning and thus PME does not significantly increase their effectiveness? Without further study, it is impossible to determine which question is correct.

Another puzzling difference between male and female supervisors was the disparity in subordinate responses for variables 434 and 439. For variable 434, male supervisors were rated highest if they were younger, were enlisted, had completed enlisted PME, had less than a bachelors degree,

were black, or were in the lower enlisted, civilian, or officer ranks. For variable 439, male supervisors were rated highest if they were younger, were civilian or enlisted, had completed enlisted PME, or had not completed a bachelors or masters degree. These responses were reversed for all other variables found to be significantly affected by these demographic factors. There was no reversal found for female supervisors.

The reversal for male supervisors for variable 439 seems quite logical and ties in with the findings for research question one for this variable. PME, age, and educational level can all be related to the experience level or status of the supervisor. As pointed out for the first research question, lower ranking personnel are encouraged to be more technically competent than higher ranking personnel. Thus, supervisors in the lower ranks have the most technical expertise for subordinates to take advantage of.

The difference in personnel category can also be explained. Officers are strongly encouraged, even at the lowest ranks to be better managers than technicians. Enlisted supervisors are encouraged to maintain their technical expertise longer and to develop their managerial skills later in their careers. Civilian supervisors are often hired to fill very specialized positions that military personnel are not available to fill such as
engineer or scientist. These positions require that the supervisors stay current in the technical aspects of their professions throughout their careers.

The analysis for research question one found for this one variable that female supervisors scored significantly higher than male supervisors. This result was attributed to the female sample population, on the whole, being much younger and lower in rank than the male sample population. Why the female sample did not show the same reversal as the male sample cannot be answered without further research.

Variable 434 may deal more with the status of the supervisor than with his experience level. Supervisors who are closer in status to the people they are supervising may be more willing or feel more comfortable in giving their subordinates negative feedback. Supervisors, on the other hand, who, by virtue of their age, rank, or personnel category, may be afforded much higher status than their subordinates, may feel very uncomfortable giving negative feedback to lower status personnel in their organization. If this relationship does hold true, it also explains why the same reversal was not found for female supervisors. As previously discussed, female supervisors may not be afforded the same status as male supervisors by virtue of their age, rank, or personnel category. Due to sexual stereotyping, their status may remain much the same whether they are officer, enlisted, or civilian, or whether they

are airmen, captains, or GS-13s. If female supervisors do not see themselves as having more status than their subordinates, they may feel much more comfortable in giving negative feedback no matter what their age, rank, or personnel category.

These three analyses have shown that sex of the supervisor alone does not determine how well subordinates perceive the effectiveness of the supervisor. But, the post facto analysis does show that sex of the supervisor may play at least a secondary role and that sexual stereotypes still may effect the perceptions of subordinates.

Recommendations for Further Study

This research study surfaced several areas for additional study. The study did not attempt to look at any interactions between the demographic variables. The results from the second research question and the post facto analysis indicate that many interactions may exist, especially between experience level and rank of the supervisor. Further study should be conducted to determine what interactions exist and to what extent.

Further study is also needed to determine why some demographic factors such as the level of PME completed affect male supervisors much more significantly than female supervisors. This would require looking at the subgroups

of these variables much more closely and determining what other factors might affect them. In the case of PME, officer and enlisted PME should be separately analyzed. The experience level and educational background of the personnel receiving the training should also be taken into consideration.

Another area that needs further study is what effect the demographic characteristics of the subordinates have on their perceptions of their supervises 3. Do female subordinates view female supervisors differently than male supervisors? Does the age, race, or educated background of subordinates effect how they rate their supervisors? The OAP data base, as presently configured, does not allow for this type of analysis to be performed.

There may also be other demographic factors not measured by the OAP that have an effect on managerial effectiveness. One area of particular concern to the Air Force and her sister services at present is the effect of the increased number of single parents and join spouse assignments on military readiness. In order to study these additional demographics of the supervisor or to study the effects of subordinate demographics, a survey should be developed and administered that addresses these issues.

APPENDIX A

ORGANIZATIONAL ASSESSMENT PACKAGE



.

SCN 82 - 81 Expires 31 Dec 83

GENERAL INFORMATION

The leaders of your organization are genuinely interested in improving the overall conditions within their areas of responsibility. Providing a more satisfying Air Force way of life and increasing organizational effectiveness are also goals. One method of reaching these goals is by continual refinement of the management processes of the Air Force. Areas of concern include job related issues such as leadership and management; training and utilization; motivation of and concern for people; and the communication process.

This survey is intended to provide a means of identifying areas within your organization needing the greatest emphasis in the immediate future. You will be asked questions about your job, work group, supervisor, and organization. For the results to be useful, it is important that you respond to each statement thoughtfully, honestly, and as frankly as possible. Remember, this is not a test, there are no right or wrong responses.

Your completed response sheet will be processed by automated equipment, and be summarized in statistical form. Your individual response will remain confidential, as it will be combined with the responses of many other persons, and used for organizational feedback and possibly Air Force wide studies.

KEY WORDS

The following should be considered as key words throughout the survey:

-- Supervisor: The person to whom you report directly.

-- Work Group: All persons who report to the same supervisor that you do.

-- Organization: Your squadron. However, if you work in staff/support agencies, the division or directorate would be your organization.

PRIVACY ACT STATEMENT

In accordance with D.O.D. Directive 5400.11, Personal Privacy and Rights of Individuals Regarding Their Personnel Records, the following information about this survey is provided:

a. Authority: 10 U.S.C., 131.

b. <u>Principal Purpose</u>: The survey is being conducted to assess your organization from a leadership and management perspective.

c. <u>Routine Uses</u>: Information provided by respondents will be treated confidentially. The averaged data will be used for organizational strength and weakness identification and research and development purposes.

d. <u>Participation</u>: Response to this survey is voluntary. Your cooperation in this effort is appreciated.

[PLEASE GO HOT TEAR, MARK ON, OR OTHERWISE DAMAGE THIS BUOKLET]

INSTRUCTIONS

1. All statements may be answered by filling in the appropriate spaces on the response sheet provided. If you do not find a response that fits your case exactly, use the one that is the closest to the way you feel.

2. Be sure that you have completed Section 1 of the response sheet, as instructed by the survey administrator, before beginning Section 2.

3. Please use the pencil provided, and observe the following:

--Make heavy black marks that fill the spaces.

--Erase cleanly any responses you wish to change.

--Make no stray markings of any kind on the response sheet.

--Do not staple, fold or tear the response sheet.

--Do not make any markings on the survey booklet.

4. The response sheet has a 0-7 scale. The survey statements normally require a 1-7 response. Use the zero (0) response only if the statement truly does not apply to your situation. Statements are responded to by marking the appropriate space on the response sheet as in the following example:

Using the scale below, evaluate the sample statement.

1 = Strongly disagree	5 = Slightly agree
2 = Moderately disagree	6 = Moderately agree
3 = Slightly disagree	7 = Strongly agree
4 = Neither agree nor disagree	••••

Sample Statement. The information your work group receives from other work groups is helpful.

If you moderately agree with the sample statement, you would blacken the oval (6) on the response sheet.

Sample Response:

(0) (1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7)

5. When you have completed the survey, please turn in the survey materials as instructed in the introduction.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

This section of the survey concerns your background. The information requested is to insure that the groups you belong to are accurately represented and not to identify you as an individual. Please use the separate response sheet and darken the oval which corresponds to your response to each question.

1. Total years in the Air Force:

Less than 1 year.
 More than 1 year, less than 2 years
 More than 2 years, less than 3 years.
 More than 3 years, less than 4 years.
 More than 4 years, less than 8 years.
 More than 8 years, less than 12 years.
 More than 12 years.

2. Total months in present career field.

Less than 1 month.
 More than 1 month, less than 6 months.
 More than 6 months, less than 12 months.
 More than 12 months, less than 18 months.
 More than 18 months, less than 24 months.
 More than 24 months, less than 36 months.
 More than 36 months.

3. Total months at this station:

Less than 1 month.
 More than 1 month, less than 6 months.
 More than 6 months, less than 12 months.
 More than 12 months, less than 18 months.
 More than 18 months, less than 24 months.
 More than 24 months, less than 36 months.
 Hore than 36 months.

4. Total months in present position:

Less than 1 month.
 More than 1 months, less than 6 months.
 More than 6 months, less than 12 months.
 More than 12 months, less than 18 months.
 More than 18 months, less than 24 months.
 More than 24 months, less than 36 months.
 More than 36 months.

5. Your Ethnic Group is:

1. American Indian or Alaskan Native

2. Asian or Pacific Islander

3. Black, not of Hispanic Origin

4. Hispanic

5. White, not of Hispanic Origin

6. Other

6. Your highest education level attained is:

1. Non-high school graduate

2. High school graduate or GED

3. Less than two years college

4. Two years or more college

5. Bachelors Degree

6. Masters Degree

7. Doctoral Degree

7. Highest level of professional military education (residence or correspondence):

0. None or not applicable NCO Crientation Course or USAF Supervisor Course (NCO Phase 1 or 2) 1. NCO Leadership School (NCO Phase 3) NCO Academy (NCO Phase 4) Senior NCO Academy (NCO Phase 5) 2. 3. 4. Squadron Officer School 5. Intermediate Service School (i.e., ACSC, AFSC) 6. 7. Senior Service School (i.e., AWC, ICAF, NWC) -8. How many people do you directly supervise? 4. 1. 3 lione 2. 1 5. 4 to 5 3. 2 6 to 8 6. 7. 9 or more 9. For how many people do you write performance reports? 1. None 4. 3 4 to 5 5. 2. 1 3. 2 6. 6 to 8 7. 9 or more

10. Does your supervisor actually write your performance reports?

1. yes 2. no 3. not sure

11. Which of the following "best" describes your marital status? 0. Not Married Married: Spouse is a civilian employed outside home.
 Married: Spouse is a civilian employed outside home-Spouse is a civilian employed outside home-geographically separated. 3. Married: Spouse not employed outside home. Spouse not employed outside home-geographically separated. Married: 4. Married: Spouse is a military member. Married: Spouse is a military member-geographically separated. 5. 6. 7. Single Parent. 12. What is your usual work schedule? 1. Day shift, normally stable hours. 2. Swing shift (about 1600-2400) 3. Mid shift (about 2400-0800) 4. Rotating shift schedule 5. Day or shift work with irregular/unstable hours. Frequent TDY/travel or frequently on-call to report to work. 6. 7. Crew schedule. 13. How often does your supervisor hold group meetings? Never 4. Weekly 1. Occastonally 2. 5. Daily Monthly Continuously 3. 6. 14. How often are group meetings used to solve problems and establish goals? 3. About half the time 1. Never 4. All of the time 2. Occasionally 15. What is your aeronautical rating and current status? 3. Rated, in crew/operations job 1. Nonrated, not on aircrew 2. Nonrated, now on aircrew 4. Rated, in support job 16. Which of the following best describes your career or employment intentions? Planning to retire in the next 12 months 1. 2. Will continue in/with the Air Force as a career 3. Will most likely continue in/with the Air Force as a career 4. May continue in/with the Air Force 5. Will most likely not make the Air Force a career 6. Will separate/terminate from the Air Force as soon as possible

JOB INVENTORY

Below are items which relate to your job. Read each statement carefully and then decide to what extent the statement is true of your job. Indicate the extent to which the statement is true for your job by choosing the phrase which best represents your job.

1 = Not at all5 = To a fairly large extent2 = To a very little extent6 = To a great extent3 = To a little extent7 = To a very great extent4 = To a moderate extent

Select the corresponding number for each question and enter it on the separate response sheet.

- 17. To what extent does your job require you to do many different things, using a variety of your talents and skills?
- 18. To what extent does your job involve doing a whole task or unit of work?
- 19. To what extent is your job significant, in that it affects others in some important way?
- 20. To what extent does your job provide a great deal of freedom and independence in scheduling your work?
- 21. To what extent does your job provide a great deal of freedom and independence in selecting your own procedures to accomplish it?
- 22. To what extent are you able to determine how well you are doing your job without feedback from anyone else?
- 23. To what extent do <u>additional duties</u> interfere with the performance of your primary job?
- 24. To what extent do you have adequate tools and equipment to accomplish your job?
- 25. To what extent is the amount of work space provided adequate?
- 26. To what extent does your job provide the chance to know for yourself when you do a good job, and to be responsible for your own work?
- 27. To what extent does doing your job well affect a lot of people?

28. To what extent does your job provide you with the chance to finish completely the piece of work you have begun? 1 = Not at all5 = To a fairly large extent2 = To a very little extent6 = To a great extent3 = To a little extent7 = To a very great extent4 = To a moderate extent

- 29. To what extent does your job require you to use a number of complex skills?
- 30. To what extent does your job give you freedom to do your work as you see fit?
- 31. To what extent are you allowed to make the major decisions required to perform your job well?
- 32. To what extent are you proud of your job?
- 33. To what extent do you feel accountable to your supervisor in accomplishing your job?
- 34. To what extent do you know exactly what is expected of you in performing your job?
- 35. To what extent are your job performance goals difficult to accomplish?
- 36. To what extent are your job performance goals clear?
- 37. To what extent are your job performance goals specific?
- 38. To what extent are your job performance goals realistic?
- 39. To what extent do you perform the same tasks repeatedly within a short period of time?
- 40. To what extent are you faced with the same type of problem on a weekly basis?
- 41. To what extent are you aware of promotion/advancement opportunities that affect you?
- 42. To what extent do co-workers in your work group maintain high standards of performance?
- 43. To what extent do you have the opportunity to progress up your career ladder?
- 44. To what extent are you being prepared to accept increased responsibility?
- 45. To what extent do people who perform well receive recognition?
- 46. To what extent does your work give you a feeling of pride?

5 = To a fairly large extent 1 = Not at all6 = To a great extent 2 = To a very little extent 3 = To a little extent 7 = To a very great extent

4 = To a moderate extent

- 47. To what extent do you have the opportunity to learn skills which will
- improve your promotion potential?
- 42. To what extent do you have the necessary supplies to accomplish your job?
- 49. To what extent do details (tasks not covered by primary or additional duty descriptions) interfere with the performance of your primary job?
- 50. To what extent does a bottleneck in your organization seriously affect the flow of work either to or from your group?

JOB DESIRES

The statements below deal with job related characteristics. Read each statement and choose the response which best represents how much you would like to have each characteristic in your job.

In my job, I would like to have the characteristics described:

- 1 = Not at all2 = A slight amount 3 • A moderate amount
- 5 = A large amount 6 = A very large amount 7 - An extremely large amount
- 4 = A fairly large amount

51. Opportunities to have independence in my work.

52. A job that is meaningful.

53. An opportunity for personal growth in my job.

54. Opportunities in my work to use my skills.

55. Opportunities to perform a variety of tasks.

56. A job in which tasks are repetitive.

57. A jub in which tasks are relatively easy to accomplish.

SUPERVISION

The statements below describe characteristics of managers or supervisors. Indicate your agreement by choosing the phrase which best represents your attitude concerning your supervisor.

- 1 = Strongly disagree
- 2 = Moderately disagree
- 3 = Slightly disagree
- 5 = Slightly agree 6 = Moderately agree

 - 7 = Strongly agree
- 4 = Neither agree nor disagree

Select the corresponding number for each statement and enter it on the separate response sheet.

- 58. My supervisor is a good planner.
- 59. My supervisor sets high performance standards.
- 60. My supervisor encourages teamwork.
- My supervisor represents the group at all times. 61.
- 62. My supervisor establishes good work procedures.
- 63. My supervisor has made his responsibilities clear to the group.
- 64. My supervisor fully explains procedures to each group member.
- 65. My supervisor performs well under pressure.
- 66. My supervisor takes time to help me when needed.
- 67. My supervisor asks members for their ideas on task improvements.
- 68. My supervisor explains how my job contributes to the overall mission.
- 69. My supervisor helps me set specific goals.
- 70. My supervisor lets me know when I am doing a good job.
- 71. My supervisor lets me know when I am doing a poor job.
- 72. My supervisor always helps me improve my performance.
- 73. My supervisor insures that I get job related training when needed.
- 74. My job performance has improved due to feedback received from my supervi sor.

75. When I need technical advice, I usually go to my supervisor.

76. My supervisor frequently gives me feedback on how well I am doing my job.

WORK GROUP PRODUCTIVITY

The statements below deal with the output of your work group. The term "your work group" refers to you and your co-workers who work for the same supervisor. Indicate your agreement with the statement by selecting the phrase which best expresses your opinion.

1 = Strongly disagree	4 = Neither agree nor disagree
2 = Moderately disagree	5 = Slightly agree
3 = Slightly disagree	6 = Moderately agree
• • •	7 = Strongly agree

Select the corresponding number for each statement and enter it on the separate response sheet.

- 77. The quantity of output of your work group is very high.
- 78. The quality of output of your work group is very high.
- 79. When high priority work arises, such as short suspenses, crash programs, and schedule changes, the people in my work group do an <u>outstanding</u> job in handling these situations.
- Your work group always gets maximum output from available resources (e.g., personnel and material).
- 81. Your work group's performance in comparison to similar work groups is very high.

ORGANIZATION CLIMATE

Below are items which describe characteristics of your <u>organization</u>. The term "your organization" refers to your squadron or staff agency. Indicate your agreement by choosing the phrase which best represents your opinion concerning your organization.

1 = Strongly disagree	5 = Slightly agree
2 = Moderately disagree	6 = Moderately agree
3 = Slightly disagree	7 = Strongly agree
4 = Neither agree nor disagree	

Select the corresponding number for each item and enter it on the separate response sheet.

JOB RELATED ISSUES

TRUE SAL

The items below are used to determine how satisfied you are with specific job related issues. Indicate your degree of satisfaction or dissatisfaction with each issue by choosing the most appropriate phrase.

1 = Extremely dissatisfied 5 - Slightly satisfied 2 = Moderately dissatisfied 6 = Moderately satisfied 3 = Slightly dissatisfied

1.1.1

7 = Extremely satisfied

4 = Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied

Select the corresponding number for each question and enter it on the separate response sheet.

- 101. Feeling of Helpfulness The chance to help people and improve their welfare through the per-formance of my job. The importance of my job performance to the welfare of others.
- 102. Co-Worker Relationship My amount of effort compared to the effort of my co-workers, the extent to which my co-workers share the load, and the spirit of teamwork which exists among my co-workers.
- 103. Family Attitude Toward Job The recognition and the pride my family has in the work I do.
- 104. On-the-Job Training (OJT) The OJT instructional methods and instructors' competence.
- 105. Technical Training (Other than OJT) The technical training I have received to perform my current job.
- 106. Work Schedule My work schedule; flexibility and regularity of my work schedule; the number of hours I work per week.
- 107. Job Security
- 108. Acquired Valuable Skills The chance to acquire valuable skills in my job which prepare me for future opportunities.

109. My Job as a Whole

1 = Strongly disagree

· 2 = Moderately disagree

5 = Slightly agree
6 ≠ Moderately agree

- 7 =Strongly agree
- 3 = Slightly disagree 4 = Neither agree or disagree
 - nree
- Ideas developed by my work group are readily accepted by management personnel above my supervisor.
- 83. My organization provides all the necessary information for me to do my job effectively.

84. My organization provides adequate information to my work group.

85. My work group is usually aware of important events and situations.

- 86. My complaints are aired satisfactorily.
- 87. My organization is very interested in the attitudes of the group members toward their jobs.
- 88. My organization has a very strong interest in the welfare of its people.
- 89. I am very proud to work for this organization.
- 90. I feel responsible to my organization in accomplishing its mission.
- 91. The information in my organization is widely shared so that those needing it have it available.
- 92. Personnel in my unit are recognized for outstanding performance.
- 93. I am usually given the opportunity to show or demonstrate my work to others.
- 94. There is a high spirit of teamwork among my co-workers.
- 95. There is outstanding cooperation between work groups of my organization.
- 96. My organization has clear-cut goals.
- 97. I feel motivated to contribute my best efforts to the mission of my organization.

98. My organization rewards individuals based on performance.

99. The goals of my organization are reasonable.

100. My organization provides accurate information to my work group.

APPENDIX B

7

FACTORS AND VARIABLES



111

.

GENERAL INFORMATION

•

The purpose of the Organizational Assessment Package (040) Marra Gathe is by provide the Information mecssays to understand and differe 040 by stars. The material in 1015 pulse is intermed to identify and dailer the 040 factors and variables. This pulse is divided into sections that include:

SECTION 1: Definitions of DAP Fectors

SECTION 2: ON Demographic Items

SECTION 3: Nort Itself

SECTION 4: Job Enrichment

Nert Group Process SECTION 5:

Work Group Output SECTION 6:

SECTION 7: ONP Variables [Listed numerically and cross-referenced]

The DUP was developed for use by the Air force Leadership and Management Bruelopment Center (1900), Manuell JPB, Alabone. The objectives of the DAP are to:

Inform commanders, managers, supervisors, and functional staff agencies of the mature, magnitude, level, scope, and source of current and potential leadership and management strengths and problems.

 Provide imputs to Air Force education and training programs, to increase instructional effectiveness, and to provide inputs for curricular development. Provide feedback for improving the effectiveness of the LNDC Nam-agreent Consultation Teams.

4. Develop tHDC trataing programs for management consultants to espand their consulting capabilities in areas which would best serve meeds of the Air Force and specific organizations.

 Provide a wide, varied, and creditable data base for research in the fields of leadership and management as well as research into jubs and career fields. 6. Provide an Air Force-wide management information system for deciston making. The principle instrument of the Out is a 109 question survey which is submissioned as a first step in a liDC consistent visit as a basel-tion to be demographic trens, the Out survey contains attitudinal questions which are grouped to form 25 factors. The questions making up the factors are designed to solicit responses from individually on a vue range of the Actors and las resonances from individually on a vue range and factors well, as factors frelating to supervision, communications, and pr-formance within the regarization. The allocable responses to the survey ques-tions range frem and, agreement or disatification, to serve, indicating a high lagreement or disatification.

The factors measured by the DAP are prouped into a systems model to assess three aspects of a work group: Angut, process, and output (adapted from McGrath's model).

input. In LMDC's adaptation of the model, input is comprised of demo-graphics, work itself, and job enrichment.

A. Demographics. Descriptive or background information about the respondents to the UMP survey free section 2 for a list of demographic fismes).

B. Work itself. The work itself has to do with the task properties (technologies) and Environmental conditions of the job. It assesses the pet-terns of characteristics members bing to the group or organization, and pet-terns of differentistion and integration among position and roles. The follow-ing OM factors measure the work itself.

006 - Job Desire, (Need For Earlchmant) 010 - Job Performance Goals 012 - Task Characteristics 013 - Task Autonomy 014 - Wort Repetition 014 - Wort Repetition 015 - Dob Related Training 015 - Job Arlated Training 010 Influences (mot a statistical factor)

C. Job Enrichment. Neasures the degree to which the job Hiself is inter-esting, <u>meaningful</u>, <u>GND</u>lenging, and responsible. The following OMP factors measure job enrichment:

800 - Skill Parlety 801 - Tasi Jeontity 802 - Tasi Significance 804 - Job Feedback 803 - Job Mottvation Index (Job Desiret) 803 - Job Mottvation Index - Additive 803 - Job Mottvation Index - Additive 803 - Mottvation Fotential Score

Work Group Process. The work group process assesses the pattern of activ-ity and interaction among the group members. The following OMP factors mea-sures leadership and the work group process:

805 - Performance Barriers/Blockoges (work Support) 818 - Nungement and Supervision 819 - Suprevisiony Communications Cilaate 820 - Organizational Communications Cilaate Bork interferences (not a statistical factor)

Supervisory Assistance (not a statistical factor)

Mort Group Output. Measures tast performance, group development, and effects on group members. Assesses the quantity and quality of tast perform-canners and alteration of the group's relation to the environment. Assesses canges its positions and role patterns, and in the development of mores. Assesses changes on stills and attitudes, and effects on adjustment. The fol-lowing DAF factors measure the work group output:

011 - Pride 2012 - Advancement/Recognition 2013 - Nove fifectiveness (Perceived Productivity) 2023 - Jon Related Satislacion 2024 - General Organizational Climate

Section 1

DEFINITIONS OF OAP FACTORS

(STATISTICAL FACTORS)

000 Still Parlety: Measures the degree to which a job requires a variety of all fraction [unit of activities in crypting out the work, which involve the use of a number of allfrent stills and talents of the worker. A key is that the stills required are <u>valued</u> by the worker.

00] Ist identity: Messures the degree to which the Job requires completion of a whole" and identifiable piece of work from beginning to end.

002 Task Significance: Measures the degree to which the job has a substan-<u>Fial Tapact on the Tives</u> or work of others; the Importance of the Job.

BO3 (Not Used)

DCA JOB feedback: Pressures the degree to which carrying out the work activilie<u>s required by</u> the job results in the worker obtaining clear and direct information about job outcomes or information on good and poor performance.

005 Performance Barriers/Blockages (Nork Support): Measures the degree to Mich work performance is hindered by additional outles, details, inadequate tools, equipment, or work space.

DOG Need for Ewrichment Index [Job Desirres]: Refers to the Job related Characterfsites Tavionovy, personal growth, use of shills, etc.) that the individual would like in a Job. BO) Job Motivation index: A composite index derived from the job characteristics inki reflects the overall "motivational sspects" of a job; the degree to which a job prompts high internal work motivation on the part of job extendents. **800 Out fatal Score**: A composite lader derived from the jub characteristics that reflects and 5 perception of motivation provided by the jub fissif as espaced to motivation provided by others. This factor is similar to the other jub motivation factors, but it employs a slightly different theory in arriving at the results.

004 Jeb Motivation Inder - Additive: This factor employs a variation of Theory used by the other Job motivation factors.

010 Jub Performance Gaals: Measures the degree to which Job performance <u>gaals are clear, specific</u>, realistic, understandable, and challenging.

111 Pride: Nessures the pride in one's work.

<u>Biz Tast Characteristics: A combination of still variety, tast identity. East significance, and job feedback designed to measure several aspects of</u>

B13 Test Autonomy: Nussures the degree to which the Joh provides freedom to the World at one sees fits, discretion in scheduling, decision-mailing, and means for accomplishing a Joh.

Ald Work Repetition: Resures the extent to which one performs the seme Lasts or faces the same type of problems in his or her joh on a regular basis. BIG Desired Repetitive Easy Tasks: Neasures the extent to wich one dustres his or her job to involve repetitive cashs or tasks that are easy to accompilsh. B) Advancement/Recognition: Measures one's sucrements of advancement and "reconstriam, and Teelings of being prepared (1.e., learning new skills for promition). BIB Management and Supervision: Measures the degree to which the worker has high periorance standards and good work procedures. Neasures support and guidance received, and the overall quality of supervision. BI9 Supervisory Communications Climate: Neasures the degree to which the worker jerceics that there 13 good "ipport with supervisors: that there is a good working environment; that innovation for task improvement is encouraged, and that revards are based upon performance.

#20 Organizational Communications Climate: Nessures the degree to which the worker perceives that there is an open communications environment in the moralization, and that adequate information is provided to accomplish the job.

B21 Work Group Effectiveness (Perceived Productivily): Measures one's view of the quantity, quality and efficiency of work generated by his or her work group.

B22 Job Related Satisfaction: Neasures the degree to which the worker is generally satisfied with Tactors surrounding the Job. 223 Joh Related Training: Neasures she extent to which one is satisfied with on the Joh and Technical training received. 824 General Organizational Climate: Mesures the individual's perception of bis of her organizational environment as a whole fi.e., spirit of team work, communications, organizational pride, etc.).

255 Ancivation Potential Scare: This factor employs a variation of theory wind by the other joh motivation factors. It ranges between 8 and 343 with 199 being the Air Force average. Low scores Indicate a poorly motivating joh.

(MON-STATISTICAL FACTORS)

Job influences: Refers to worker's feelings of accountability to his or her supervise", and standards of performance. Work Interferences: Identifies things which impose an individual's jub performation.

Warritory Assistance. Neatures, the extent to which a supervisor helps the who-insite. Section 2

OAP DEMOGRAPHIC ITEMS

STATEAENT NUMBER STATEAENT	4 Total months in present position:]. Less than month 2. More than month fort than 6 months		2		\$ Your Ethnic Group is:]. American Indian or Alastan Wative 2 - Arian ar Darffic Filandar			5			2. Narried: Spouse is a civilian employed	Buiside Nome - geographically separated. Miriside Science and misside bone	Nerled	geographic		0. Martica: Spouse is a military memori - Decorabila separated.	7. Single parent.	iriable 000, statement 11, was added to the OAP on 19 Jan. 80 and	replaced variable Old which appears on page 3. Although no longer	used. Variable Old is still shown because data collected from about	25,000 samples for this variable remains in the date base.		6 Your highest education level obtained is:	1. Non-biob school praduate			5. Bachelors Dedree		1. Doctoral Degree	
YARTABLE MUNBER	10		•			60)				ş	5									MOTE: VI		53	£ ,,		8							
STATEMENT NUMBER	•	- Nort Graug Code	ž.	- Your age 15	- You are (officer, emlisted, 65, etc.)	- Your pay grade 1s	- Primary MSC	- Duty N.X.	the above items are contained on the response sheet.)	- (Not Used)	- {kot Used}	1 Total years in the Air Ferce:	1. Less than 1 year	2. Nore than I year, less than Z years	3. More than 5 years, less them 2 years 6. "More than 3 years. less them 4 years	5. Nore than 4 years, less than 8 years	6. More than 8 years, less than 12 years	7. More than 12 years	2 Total months in present career field:	1. Less than 1 month 2. More than 1 month less than 6 months	. 3. More than 6 months, less than 12 months	4. More than 12 months, less than 18 months	5. Wore than 18 months, less than 24 months	0. More (han 24 months, less (nom 30 months) 9. Must him 26 months		J Total months at this station:	1. Less than 1 munth	2. More than I month, less them 6 months	3. More than 6 months. Tess than 17 months A marr obar 12 munths tess than 19 months	5. Nore than 18 whites, less than 24 mills	6. More than 24 months, less than 36 months	tuine at well that 's
VARTABLE MURGER		•	•		•	•	٠	•	(Note: 1)		200	60							20							005						

OAP DEMOGRAPHIC ITEMS

STATEMENT	What is your usual work schedule?	 Suing smit, tahout 1600-2401 Mud smit tahout 1600-2401 Mud smit tahout 2000-06001 Anisting shift schedule Day or shift schedule Day or shift work with irregular/wastable Anors Anors Crew schedule Crew schedule 	Wow often does your supervisor hold group weetings?	1. Hever 4. Weekly 2. Occasionally 5. Daily 3. Monthly 6. Continuously Wen often press areas faces and the Aller	problems and establish goals' I. Wever 3. About half the time	e, occasionary All of the time Mat is your beronautical rating and current status?	1. Nonrated, met on aircrew 2. Bonrated, mow on aircrew 3. Rated, in crew/operations job 4. Rated, in support job	Which of the following best describes your career or employment intentions?	 Planning to retire in the next 12 months 2. Will continue in/with the Air Force as a Greer Will most likely continue in/with the air 1. Norce Way continue in/with the Air Force a 3. Will most likely not make the Air Force a 4. Will usurate/terminate from the Air Force as soon as possible
STATEMENT NUMMER	21		2		2	15		2	
VARIABLE	510		016	Ĩ	i	910		•10	·
STATEMAN	Highest level of professional allitary education . [residence or correspondence]:	0. None or not applicable 1. NCD Orientation Course or USAF Supervisor Course HEOP Pause 1 or 21 2. NCD treadership School (MCD Phase 31 3. NCD Academy (NCD Phase 4) 5. Suppose Differ School 6. Intermediate Service School (1.e., ACSC,	7. Serier Service School (1.e., AMC, 1645. MMC)	New many propile do yeu directly supervice? 1. None 5. 4 to 5 2. 1 6. 6 to 8	1. 2 1. J or more 1. J For the many people to you write performance		 2 2 7. 9 or more 43 5 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	1. Tes 2. m J. Bet Same	There and results, you to ward primerity: 1. Almose 1. Almose 2. At a furth ward press (1-5 press(s) 4. At a furth ward press (6 er more press(s) 5. Other
STATENENT NUMBLE		•		•	•		2	:	=
AAPTAALE	010			110	210		C 10	, ,	6

Section 3

WORK ITSELF

FACTOR BOG - JOB DCSIRES (WEED FOM EVALLANCEN): HAS to do with job related characteristics functionary, perional growth, use of stills, etc.) that the individual would like in a jab.

	STATENEN
STATENENT	NUMBER
VARIAR (HI MARE H

[]n my job.] would like to have the characteristics described-from "not at all' to "an extremely large amount"]

62	15	Opportunities to have independence in my and
952	3	A Job that is meaningful.
21	15	In the state of th

he deportunity for personal growth in my job. Opportunities in my work to use my skills. 3 3

Opportunitity to perform a variety of tasks.

FACION BID - JOB PERFORMANCE COALS: Measures the extent to which job per-formance goals are clear, specific, realistic, understandable, and chalten

		To what extend do you know exactly what is expected of you in performing your Job?	To what extent are your job performance goals difficult to accomplish?	fo what entent are your job performance goals clear?	To what extent are your job performance goals specific?
	STATEMENT NUMBER STATEMENT	34 . To what expecte	35 To what difficu	X To what clear?	37 To what evilated
ź	AR LABLE	12	818	E	•

to what entent are your job performance goals restistic:

8

121

FACTON 012 - TAX CMMARCTENISTICs: A combination of skill variety, task Tobartity, Task (Tanifizance and in the combination of skill variety, task

STATEMENT	To what extent doet your job require you to do any different things, using a variety of your celents and utilis?	To what extent does your job favolve doing a whole task or wit of work?	To what extent is your job significant, in that it affects others in some important way?	To whit entert are you able to determine how well you are doing your job without freedact from anyone else?	To what entent does your god provide the chance to frow for yoursail when you do a good god, and to be responsible for your ann wort?	Te what catent does doing your jub well affect a lot of people?	To what eitent does your job provide you with a Clarke to finish completely the piece of work you have begun?	lo what entent does your job require you to use a number of complex sitilis?
STATENENT HUMBER				-				

WORK ITSELF

fACTOM B13 - TASX AUTOWONY: Nextures the degree to which the jub provides Treedom to do the word as one sees fit; discretion in scheduling, decision mairing, and means for accomplicing a job.

STATEMUL	To what eitent does your jab provide a great deal of freedom and independence in Kineduling your work?	Te what extent does your job provide a great deal of freedom and independence in velocing your own procedures to accomplish it?	To what extent does your job give you freedom to do your work as you see filt?	To what extent are you allowed in make the major decisions required to perform your job well?
STATEMENT MUMBLE	2	~	8	Ħ
VARTABLE	910	112	612	514

FACTOR Bit - MOME REFIIIION: Mesures the extent to which one performs the same tasks or Tacks the same type of problems in his or her job on a regular basis.

STATLAGENT	To what extent do you perform the same tasks repeatedly within a short period of time?	To what extent are you faced with the same type of problem on a weekly basis?	
STATEMENT Number	£	Ş	
VARTAIK E MUMBER	326	. 121	

FACTOR BIG - DESIRED REPETITIVE EASY TASKS: Measurer Une extent to which one desires his or her joh to Involve repetitive tasks or tasks that are easy to accomplish.

•

STATENCHT MUHBER 56	Statietar A job in which tasks are repetitive.
	TENENT DEER 56

A job in which tasks are relatively easy to excomplish. _A

FACION 823 - JOB AELATED TRAINING: Neesures the extent to which one 1s saffsfred with on-the-Job and technical training received.

STATEMENT	On-the-Job Training (UJT) The OJT Instructional methods and instructors' competence.	Technical Training (Other than (JJ) The technical training T have received to per- form ay current job.
STATENENT NUMBER	. 101	<u>8</u>
VAR LABLE MUMBER	Ĩ	2112

FACTOR - JOB INFLUENCES (NOT A STATISTICAL FACTOR):

STATEMENT	To what extent do you feel accountable to your supervisor in accomplishing your job?	To what entent do co-workers la your work group Gelntain high standards of performance?
STATEMENT NUMBER	R	4
Y AR I ABLE HUMBER	216	6 42

Section 4

JOB ENRICHMENT

<u>FACTOR 001 - TASK (DEWIJTY:</u> Reasones the degree to which the job requires completion of a <u>"ahole" and</u> identifiable piece of wort from beginning to end. To what extent does your job require you to use a number of complex skills? EACTON BOD - Still HAMIGTY: Measures the degree to which a job requires a variety of <u>attrevent</u> tasks or existing the carrying out the wort; involves the use of a meaner of different skills and talents of the worter; skills required are solved by the worter. To what extent does your job require you to do mony different things, using a variety of your talents and diffis? STATENENT STATEMENT STATEMENT WONBER STATENENT NUMBER 2 ۶. VARIABLE MUMBLA VAR LABLE MUNBER ĩ 212

To what entant does your job provide you with a charte to finish completely the piece of work you have begun? To what extent does your job favolve doing a <u>whole</u> task or writ of work? 2 2 ĩ 211

<u>FACTON NO2 - TASK StanicTCANCE</u>: Measures the degree to which the job has a <u>substantial Nepect on the Tree</u> or work of others; the importance of the job.

STATENE INT	To what extent is your Jed significant, in that it affects others in some laportant way?	To what extent obes doing your foo well affect a let of people?
Statener Names	2	~
VARIARLE NUMBER	EQ	210

FACION 804 - JOB FEEDBACK: Neasures the degree to which carrying out the work acclivities required by the job results in the worker obtaining clear and direct information about job outcomes or information on good and more

	STATERUT	To whit extent are you while to determine how writ you are doing your job without feedbach from anyone eise?	To what extent does your job provide the chance to know for yourself when you du a good job, and to be responsible for your own wor?
	STATENENT NUMBER	2	2
performance.	VARIABLE NUMBER	212	6 02

EACTOR MOG - WELD FOR EMPLOMEENT IMPER (JOB DESIRES): Mas to do with job refered characteristics fautomony, personal grouth, use of stills, etc.) that the individual mould like in a job.

	describedf
1-1	characteristics
STATEMENT	here the
STATENENT WUNBER	fin my job, 1 would file to have the characteristics describedf all' to "an estremely large amount"]
VAR JAPLE NUMBER	(in w job.

from that at The opportunity for personal growth in my job. Opportunities to have independence in my work. Opportunities in my work to use my shills. A Job that is meaningful. 3 2 3 3 3 152 249 22 252 252

Opportunities to perform a variety of tasks.

118

Section 5

WORK GROUP PROCESS

FACTOR 805 - PERFORMANCE BARRIERS/MLOCLAGES (MONE SUPPORT): Measures the descrete to match word performance is himdered by additional duties, details, instrumente tools, equipment, or word space.

ENE UT E. Statement	I to what extent to additional durites laterfere with the performance of your primary job?	l To what extent do you have adequate (soils and equipment to accomplish your job?	
STATENENE NUMBER	2	2	£
VAN LANLE NUMBER	ş	102	2

fo what entent do you have the mercessary supplies to accomplish your job?

Pucifor - work (unitercances (wor a statistical factori): Identifies chings Wrich Tapede an Tadividual's Job periormance.

STATENENT

STATENCHT NUMBER \$ \$

VARIAN C NUMBER 113 278

To what ectent do details (task mat covered by . primary or additional duty descriptions) inter-fere with the performance of your primary job?

FACTOR 810 - MUNACINENT AND SUPERVISION: Nearwest the degree to which the worker has high performance standards and pool work procedures. Nearwes support and guidance received, and the nearbill subject on the survey.

and the second second and the particular of supervision.	NT STATCACAT	A supervisor is a good planner.	My supervisor sets high performance standards.	My supervisor encourages teamork.	My supervisor represents the group at all times.	dy supervisor establishes good work procedures.	My supervisor has made his responsibilities clear to the group.	My supervisor fully explains procedures to each group member.
	STATENENT NUMBER	8	5	3	3	29	3	3
	VAR1ABLE NUMBER	ş	Ê,	010	Ŧ	412	413	5

fe what extent does a bottlearch in your organi- sation seriously affect the flow of wort either to or from your group?	FACTOR BIP - SUPERVISORY COMMUNICATIONS CLIMITE: Measures the degree to which The worder perceives that there is good rapport with supervisors; that there is a good working environment; that innovation for task improvement is encour- aged, and that revards are based upon performance.	STATEMAT	Ny supervisor asis members for sheir ideas on Last laprovements.	My supervisor suploins now my job contributes to . the overall alssion.	My supervisor helps me set specific goals.	My supervisor lets me know when I am doing a good job.	Ny supervisor aluays helps ne laprove ay per- formance.	^t Ny supervisor fasures that I get job related Craining when needed.
3	- SUPERVISORY Perceives Exit Orting environ Nat rewards an	STATENENT NUMBER	5	3	2	92	2	ε.
¢/2	FACTOR 819 The worter 1s a good aged, and t	VARIABLE NUMBER	426	428	17	î,	\$C 1	, 136

My supervisor frequently gives an feedback on bou well 1 an doing my Joh.

My Job performance has havened due to feedhuik received from my supervisor.

z 2

ì

NV supervisor performs well under pressure.

ŝ

416

ĩ

119

Formula (8-206+207+208)/3

WORK GROUP PROCESS

ATE: Measures the digree to a comunications environment ion is provided to accomplish There To an and a FACTOR 820 - DAGANIZATIONAL COMMUNICATIONS CLIM WICH The worter perceives that There Ts in one in the granization, and that adequate informat the job.

Mail All. E Statewart MonG, A Errar E MonG, A Errar E	STATENENT	ldes dreibyd by my mort group are redi') accepted by management personnel above ay super- visor	Ab organization provides all the mecessary information for me to do my job effectively.	My presentation provides adequate information to my work group.	My work group is usually aware of important events and situations.	My complaints are aired satisfactorily.	The information in my organization is widely shared so that those meeting it have it availa- ble.	My organization has clear-cut goals.	The goals of sy organization are reasonable.	Ny brgantization provides accurate information to
100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100	STATENENT NUMBER	2	2	2	£	×	2	×	2	901
	VARJABLE MJMBLA	8	łąc	20E	COE	ğ	ş	11E	/I C	010

Ny organization provides accurate information to by work group.

SUPERVISORY ASSISTANCE (NOT A STATISTICAL FACTOR): Measures the extent to MAICH a supervisor Metus the subordinate.

STATEMENT	My supervisor takes time to help me when weeded.	My supervisor lets me know when I am doing a poor job.	Mhen 1 meed technical advice. I ususally go to By supervisor.
STATENENT NUMBLE	3 5	E	ž.
VARIARLE WUMPLE	424	161	5

Section 6

several coolers. Addition

NORK GROUP OUTPUT

FACTOR BIL - PAIDE: Neasures the pride in one's work.

Te what entent are you prove of your job?	le what entert does your work give you a feeling of pride?	
8	\$	
215	5/2	

FACTOR 017 - ADTAMELIEU/MECOLALITION: Measures and's averaness of advancement and recognition, and Teellapis of being prepared (i.e., learning and 1911) for prevantioni.

	statement .	To what extent are you oware of promotion/ad- vencement apportunities that affect you?	To what sitent do yeu have the opportunity to progress up your career ladder?	To what satent are you being prepared to accept facreased responsibility?	lo whit estent do people who perform well receive recognition?	To what extent do you have the opportunity to learn skills which will improve your promotion potential?
reetion).	STATEMENT NUMBER	Ŧ	7	Ŧ	\$	Ŧ
stills for premotion).	VARIABLE WUPULR	ĸ	82	240	162	276

FACTOR 821 - MORK GROUP EFFECTIVENESS (PERCLIVED PRODUCTIVITY). Nessures one's View of the quantity, quality, and efficiency of work generated by his or her work group.

variakt Statikurt variakt Statikurt 259 71 260 74 261 79 264 80 264 80 265 81	the second and the second of the second of the second of the	SIALEENT .	The <u>quantity</u> of output of your work group is very high	The <u>quality</u> of putput of your work group is wery high	When high priority work arises, such as short suspenses, crash prugrams, and schedule changes, the prugle in my work proup do an <u>outstanding</u> Jon in handling these situations	Your work group always gets manimum output from available resources (e.g., personnel and material)	Your work group's performance in comparison to similar work groups is very high
÷		STATEMENT NUMBER	*	2	£	3	14
		VARIABLE NUMBER	259	942 .	192	54 Z	265

Section 6 (Continued)

WORK GROUP OUTPUT

riktion w2 - Job Aliaila saiissiktion. Mesuret be degree to which the work" is generally sufficiential factors surrounding the job.

.

5/4/EAL#4	fecting of Helpfulmess The charactics help projet and Haprove Uneir mel- fore Unrough the performance of my Joo. The Jore Unrough the performance to the withare sofotners.	Co-writer Relationships by accurd of effort computed to the effort of a y co-writers, the enter to which an co-workers stare the foud, and the spirit of feremonit which exists among ay co-werkers.	Family Attitude Toward Job The recognition and the pride my family has in the wort 1 do.	bort Schedule Wort Schedule; flexibility and regularity of the work schedule; the number of hours 1 work per meet.	Jac Security	Acquired taluable Stills' The charte to acquire "alluable skills in my job which prepare me for future opportualities.
STATEMENT NUMBER	101	291	g	ş	107	8
e Arel ABLE MUPULE	ત્વ	109	910	111	714	811
			-			

My Job as a whole

8

723

FALTON 824 - GIMERAL ONGANIZATIONAL CLIMATE: Measures the Individual's per-ception of K15 or her organizational environment as a mobile 11.e. Spirit of Lean ways commissions, organizational pride, etc.).

team work, communications, organizational price, eld. ?.	STATENENT NUMBER STATENENT	B) My organization is very interested in the atti- tudes of the group members toward their jobt.	88 My arganization has a very strong interest in the welfare of its people.	89 I am very proud to work for this organization.	S0 I feel responsible to an organization in accom- plishing its mission.	92 Personnel in my wait are recognized for out- standing performance.	13 I am usually given the opportunity to show or demonstrate my work to others.	94 There is a high spirit of teamwork among my co-workers.	5 There is outstanding cooperation between work groups of my organization.	97 I feel motivated to contribute my best efforts to the mission of my organization.	96 My organization rewards individuals hasad on performance.
		nterested in the atti- s toward their jobs.	r strong interest in	ar this organization.	organization in accom-	recognized for out-	portunity to show or hers.	teamort among my	eration between work	ibute my best efforts nization.	ndividuals based on

Section 7

s
است
_
õ
8
-
ç
-
~
٩.
~
O
OAP VA

RKHT STATEHENT	To what extent are you proud of your job? To what extent do you feel accountable	to your supervisor in accomplishing your job?	To what extent do you know exactly what is expected of you in performing	your job? To whit pitent are your inh morfarm.	ance goals difficult to accomplish?	(Not Used)	(Nat Used)	To what extent are your job perform- ance goals realistic?	(mot Used)	(hot Used)	(Mot Used)	(Mot used)	To what extent do you perform the same tasks repeatedly within a short period of rime?	to what extent are you faced with the	serve type of provide on a weekly basis?	(Mot Used)	(hot Used)	(not Ased)	(Mot Used)	(tect Used)	(Hot Ased)	Note: This variable is an element of "Job influence." (mot a statistical Tector).	
STATENENT NUMBER	* *		A	X		•	•	2	•	•	•	•	£.	\$		•	•	•	•	•	•		
FACTOR	811 (Note)		9 10	919		•	٠	810	•	•	•		814	918		•	٠	•	ı	•	•,	variable is	
VAR I ABLE NUMBER	215 216		217	218	•	513	220	221	222	223	122	522	, 425	122		822	229	230	, 1C2	232	112	Note: This Tactor).	
STATEOR ME	To what entent does your job require you to do many different things. using a variety of your talents and	•	doing a <u>whoir</u> lask or whit of work? To what extent is your job signifi-	•	(Mot Used)	(Mot Used)					to what extent is the amount of work space provided adequate?		ue clarke to knew tor yourself when you do a good job, and to be responsi- ble for your ann work?	To what extent does doing your Job well affect a lot of people?					•	Te what extent does your job give you frzedom to do your work as you see		To what extent are you allowed to make the major decisions required to per- form your job well?	
STATEMENT NUMBER	1	=	6		•	•	8	•	2		£	¥.		ż	92		;	62		8		5	
FACTOR	218/008	801 /812	802/B12		•	•	508		ŝ		5	804/812		8 02/812	218/108			219/000		518		[]	
	ē ,																						

OAP VARIABLES

<u>statem nt</u>	The apportunity for personal growth in my job	Opportualties in my mork to use my skills	Opportunities to perform a variety of tasks	(Not Used)	A job in which tasks are repetitive.	(Not Used) (Not Used)	A job in which tasks are relatively easy to accomplish.	The <u>quantity</u> of output of your work group is very high	The guality of output of your work group is very high	When high priority work arises, such	as smort supprates, trasm programs, and schedule changes, the people in my work group do an outstanding jub in	handling these situations	(Not Used)	(Ret Used)	Your work group always gets maximum output from available resources (e.g., martonael and material)	Your work arounts performance in real	partson to similar work promps is very high	(Mot Used)	(Mot Used)	
STATENENT NUMBER	53	2	s	۰	3		5	.	2	2			•	•	8	19	١.	•	•	
FACTOR	908	ŝ	2		916		918	821	120	129			•	•	821	621		•	•	
VAR I ABLE NUMBE R	142	252	52	¥2	255	256 251	952	528	260	192			202	263	564	265		266	192	
Stational	to wate stert are you make at promo- tion/advancement apportunities that affect you?	(NOC Used)	(bot Used)	To what extent do co-workers in your worn group maintain high standards of	performance?	To what extent do you have the orpor- tunity to progress up your career lad- der?	To what estent are you being prepared to accept increased responsibility?	lo what extent do people who perform well receive recognition?	(#Ot Used) (II)	. (Mar 1000)	(Not Used)	(Hot Used)	(Not Used)	(Mot Used)		characteristics described-from "not at	Opportunities to have independence in www.worl?	A sab that is meanimoful		of "job influences" (mot a statistica)
STATEMENT MUMBER	7	•		45		7	\$	\$	•	• •	ı	•	•	•		(in er job.] would lite to have the all' to 'an extremely large smount")	15	3	1	Wote: This variable is an element e <u>Yact</u> or).
FACTOR		•		(Note)		11		(18		•••	١	•	•	•		. I would If	90	ŝ	1	s variable 1
VAN LABLE MUMBLE	5	205	5 2	578		612	240	12	292	i i	245	246	247	248		8 9	545	952	•	te: This clor).

OAP VARIABLES

STATEMENT	ideas drveloped by my work group are	readily accepted by manag ruc at person- nel above my supervisor.	My organization provides all the recessary information for me to do my job effectively.	Ny organization provides adequate Information to my work group.	My work group is usually aware of important events and situations	My complaints are aired satisfac- torily.	My organization is very interested in the attitudes of the group members	toward their jobs.	ry organization has a very strong interest in the wilfare of its peo- pie.	l am very proud to work for this organization.	I feel responsible to my organization in accomplishing its mission.	The Information in my organization is widely shared so that those mention it	mare to available. Personnel in my unit are recognized for outstanding performance.	l am usually given the opportunity to show or demonstrate my work to others.	There is a high spirit of teamort among my co-workers.	There is outstanding conperation between work groups of my organiza- tion.
SYATEMENT NUMBER	2		54	2	SB	98	6	8	8	8	8	16	26	÷	z	*
FACTOR	820		820	. 029	028	820	924		5	929	924	N 20	929	26	2	20
VARIANLE MUMOER	90		ία	SUE	CO C	1 00	ŞQE	ş	ŝ	<u>م</u>	308	e.i	010	Ē	216	""
STATCHERT .	(not Used)	(Not Used)	To what extent does your job provide a great deal of freedom and independence in scheduling your wort?	To what entent does your jab provide a great deal of freedom and independence in selecting your own procedures to	accomplish it?	To what extent are you able to deter- ative how will you are doing your Job without freedback from anyone else?	Te what extent are your job.perform- ence goals clear?	To what extent are your Job perform. ance goals specific?	To what extent does your work give you a feeling of pride?	To what extent do you how the oppor- tunity to Tearm stills which will	(myrove your promotion potential) To what pitent do wen have the merce.	tary supplies to accomplish your job? To what estent do details frat not	covered by primary or additional duty descriptions! interfere with the per- formance of your primary job?	To what extent dues a bolthemect in your organization seriously affect the fitu of work either to or from your group?	[Mot Used]	Mole: These variables are elements of "work interferences" (not a statis- Itial factor).
STATENENT NUMBER	•	•	2	2	- :	2	*	ſĒ	3	4				\$	۹,	ere elements
FACTOR	•	•		(1		21 2/ 108	01 0	018	110 .	(18	(Note)	(Note)		(Hote)	E	ie variables url.
ا ۲		569	270	۳2	ł	2/2	"	274	275	276	112	9 /2		6 /2	280 thru 299 -	Hote: Thei Tical facto

OAP VARIABLES

STATCHENT	My supervisor has made his responsi- bilities clear to the group.	(Not Used)	(Not Used)	My supervisor performs well under pressure.	(Mot Used)	(Nrt Used)	(Not Used)	(Mot Used)	(Not Used)	(Not Used)	(Not Used)	My supervisor takes time to help me when needed.	(Not Used)	Ny supervisor asts ment ers for their Ideas on task improvements.	(Not Used)	My supervisor explains how my Job contributes to the overall mission.	(Not Used)	(Not :!sed)	tb supervisor heip∧ me set specific anals	(Not Used)	Wote: This variable is an element of "supervisory assistance" fact a statia.
STATEREN NUMBER	5	ı	•	65	•	•	•	•	•	•	٠	3	•	6	•	5	•	•	5	•	a cirrent
FACTOR	818		•	818	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	(Note)	•	619		-18	•	•	819	•	ls variable (
VARIABLE NUMBER	()	ŧ	415	915	11	819	(];	420	125	22 9	£3)	424	425	426	•12•	428	Ę	9	11.	21)	Hote: Thi
STATENENT	My organization has clear-cut goals.	I feel motivated to contribute my best efforts to the mission of my organiza-		Ny organization rewards individuals based on performance.	The goals of my organization are rea- sonable.	My organization provides accurate information on a contraction of a contraction of the second s						My supervisor is a good planner.	My supervisor sets high performance	(per north	(Not Used)	(Not Used)	(D-36) 100)	Ny supervisor encourages tramort.	My supervisor represents the group at all times.	.Ny supervisor establishes good wart procedures.	
					99 The goals of my organization are rea- sonable.					·			59 My supervisor sets high performance ctandards	- (Mat Need)	- (Not Used)	- (Wat Used)		60 My supervisor encourages teamork.	61 My supervisor represents the group at all times.	62 By supervice establishes good wark procedures.	
STATE ALL	*	â	1	£	\$	901		•	I	•	•	3	5	•		400 (Not Used)	•	3	5	3	

OAP VARIABLES

Statterent	(Mot Used)	(set used)	Co-worter Relationships Ny amount of effort compared to the	effort of my co-workers. We extent to which my co-workers share the food,	and the spirit of teamork which saists among my co-workers.	Family Attitude Toward Job The recognition and the pride my family has in the work 1 do.	On-the-Job Training (QUT)	The QJT Instructional methods and Instructors' competence.	Technical Iraining (Other than OJT) The technical training I have received	to perform av current job.	(Not Used)		(Not Used)	(Not Used)	Work Schedule	regularity of ay work schedule; the	humber of hours I work per week.	Job Security	Acquired Valuable Stills	ing chance to acquire valuable stills in my jub which prepare me for future	appurtues fles.	(Not used) -	(Mut Used)	(Not Used)	My Job as a khole	(Not used)
STATENENT MANUEL	•		ğ			<u>1</u>	101		501		•	•	•	.'	901			101	10 8			٠	•	٠	601	•
FACTOR	•	•	22			623	623		629	•		•	•	•	822			822	822			•			822	. 66
VALAN.E WUREA	í QL	80	5			912	ш		211		E17 145	5	51/	716	111			718	61/			120	121	~~	121	124 Lhru 999
STATCHEAT	Ny supervisor lets as taou unes i an defini a good jeb.	Ny supervisor lets me know when I am	taling a poor job. 16 tumerajent alatet bajat mejantura	wy performance.	Ny supervisor insurts that I get job related training when meeded.	My job performance has improved due to feedback received from my supervisor.	(Not Used)	Nhen I need technical advice. I usu- sally en to Av supervisor.	(Not Used)	(Net Used)	My supervisor frequently gives me feedback on how well I am doing my			(Mot Used)	My supervisor fully explains proce- dures to each yroup acaber.	(Not Used)	(Not Used)	(Not Used)	(Not Used)	(MOL USED)	(not used)	feeling uf <u>Helpf</u> ulness	The chan e to help people and vayrove their welfare through the performance	of my job. The temportance of ay job perfurmance to the welfare of jthers.	(Mot Used)	There variables are elements of "supervisory assistance" (not a sta- al factor).
STATEMENT NUMBER	2	N	2	:	ũ	z	٠	3	•	•	92		•	•	3	•	,	•	•		,	101			•	are elements o
FACTOR	618	(Nate)	618	•	618	517	•	(Note)	•	•	618		•	•	-	- 69	•	•	•	•	•	828				se variables Actor).
VARIAALE NUMBER	11	K ¥.	515	ł	\$	î.	8()	419	919	111	442		: :		465	446 thru 699	002	10/	202	(0/	101	202 2			40,	Note. These vari Efstical factor).
APPENDIX C

Ϋ́,

-

ANALYSES OF VARIANCE

ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE FOR EFFECT OF AGE ON THE PERCEIVED EFFECTIVENESS OF MALE AND FEMALE SUPERVISORS

	FEM	MALES			łW	MALES	
Variable	Number of Cases	F Prob- ability	Multiple Range Test	Variable	Number of Cases	F Prob- ability	Multiple Range Test
	α α	* 210		α		* 000	-
	5 0	* * 20	j e 4		- 0 r u		 = 4
2404	107	* 4000	+ -#	2404	1000 8584		i= -1
41	b	• 003 *	= -1	41	57		= -1
41	6	• 008	: - 4	41	56		
41	6	.081	: =#=	41	57	* 000 *	.
41	6	• 051 *	-	41	57	00	-
44	9	.124	-#=	44	55	41	
41	0	* T00.	-142	41	57		2 jij a
81	σ	.002 *		81	49		- 2734
42	0	* 600 .	-#=	42	57		≈iji e
42	9	* 000.	*	42	57		- jij a
43	0	* 000.	-#=	43	57		-14=
43	0	• 008	-#=	43	58		
43	0	• 001	*	43	57		-
43	9	.073	*	43	55		
43	σ	.050 *	-#=	43	57		
44	0	* 010.	*	44	57		
Å 2	0	.004 *	-#=	42	58		≈iji n
43	σ	.078	*	2434	57		-
43	0	* 100.	щÞ	43	57		*
<pre>* significant * more than o</pre>	at ne s	alpha equal ignificant	1 to .05 subset				
)						

ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE FOR EFFECT OF MONTHS IN POSITION ON THE PERCEIVED EFFECTIVENESS OF MALE AND FEMALE SUPERVISORS

	FEM	ALES			W	MALES	
Variable	Number of Cases	F Prob- ability	Multiple Range Test	Variable	Number of Cases	F Prob- ability	Multiple Range Test
81	60	.421		81	54	.380	
40	0	.544	I	40	64	.371	
Z405	703	.585		Z405	8651	.392	
41	0	.881		41	63	.787	
41	6	.629		41	63	.555	
41	0	.536		41	64	.554	
41	6	• 008	#	41	64	.017 *	-
44	9	.758		44	62	.103	-#=
41	0	.510		41	64	* 010.	-#=
81	σ	.251	*	81	ມີ	• 000	
42	0	.645		42	64	.520	
42	0	• 011 *	*	42	63	* 000.	*
43	0	.120	-#=	43	64	• 005 *	-44=
43	0	.270	-	43	65	.005 *	-
43	0	.099	-#*	43	64	.002 *	*
43	0	.224		43	62	.002 *	-14=
43	6	.225		43	64	0	-
44	0	.176		44	64	0	*
42	0	Ч	*	42	64	0	-#=
43	δ	• 003 *	*	Z434	8638	* 000°	z ij a
43	0	4		43	63	0	*

ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE FOR EFFECT OF YEARS IN THE AIR FORCE ON THE PERCEIVED EFFECTIVENESS OF MALE AND FEMALE SUPERVISORS

and the second second

Ì

	FEN	MALES			MA	MALES	
Variable	Number of Cases	F Prob- ability	Multiple Range Test	Variable	Number of Cases	F Prob- ability	Multiple Range Test
81	ഹ	0		81	ഗ	* 000*	#
40	9	N	: -::	40	9	0	: 2)
40	9	* 000.		40	9	* 000.	: ± =
Z410	665	0	-	2410	8622	* 000.	ł
41	9	.004 *	-11-	41	9	* 000.	-
41	9	.010 *	-14-	41	Q	* 000.	
41	S	• 008	-	41	9	* 000.	
44	9	.075		44	9	* 000"	
41	9	* 110.	-#=	41	9	* 000.	-19=
81	S	* 100.	*	81	ഹ	* 000.	
42	9	.054 *	-	42	9	* 000.	-##=
42	9	* 000.		42	9	* 000.	
43	9	* 000.	*	43	9	* 000 *	
43	9	* 010.		43	9	* 000 *	
43	9	* 000.	*	43	9	* 000.	-14-
43	9	* 000.	*	43	9	* 000.	
43	9	* 000.		43	9	• 000	
44	9	.030 *	*	44	9	* 000*	
42	9	* 000.	*	42	9	* 000*	*
43	9	.261		43	9	* 000*	
43	9	0	*	43	9	• 039 *	***
<pre>* significant * more than of</pre>	at	alpha equal significant	l to .05 subset				
		Aller realle	aubach				

ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE FOR EFFECT OF MONTHS IN CAREER FIELD ON THE PERCEIVED EFFECTIVENESS OF MALE AND FEMALE SUPERVISORS

	PEN	FEMALES			AM	MALES	
Variable	Number of Cases	F Prob- ability	Multiple Range Test	Variable	Number of Cases	F Prob- ability	Multiple Range Test
81	8	.547		Z818	8549	4	
40	0	.747		0	8652	.568	
40	0	.548		0	8656	.357	
41	0	.752		H	8643	1	
Z411	697	.246		Z411	8640	.836	
41	0	8		П	8651	ŝ	
41	σ	.312		-	8645	.078	
44	σ	.918		4	8629	σ	
41	0	.766		H	8645	Ч	
81	σ	.420		-	8563	.241	
42	0	.190		2	8648	.116	
42	σ	.718		2	8644	.783	
43	0	.397		ŝ	8651	.435	
43	0	.651		ŝ	8657	.022 *	
43	0	.108		ŝ	8647	.057	
43	9	.175	•	e	8628	.088	
43	σ	.085	**	ŝ	8649	.095	
44	0	.880		4	8650	.424	
42	0	.319		2	8653	.434	
43	9	.062	-	Z434	8642	* I00.	
43	0	* 000 *		m	8645		

.

-

ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE FOR EFFECT OF PERSONNEL CATEGORY ON THE PERCEIVED EFFECTIVENESS OF MALE AND FEMALE SUPERVISORS

	FEN	EMALES			WI WI	MALES	
Variable	Number of Cases	F Prob- ability	Multiple Range Test	Variable	Number of Cases	F Prob- ability	Multiple Range Test
81	~	.063	#		12	* 000	-
40	σ	.164	•	404	22	\circ	⊨ =\$ }
40	σ	.002 *	-	40	22	* 000.	
Z410	694	.026 *	-	Z410	8218		a ≍ij a
41	σ		-	41	21	0	-
41	6	.210		41	22	* 000 *	-
41	8	.138		41	21	0	• •
44	σ	.438		44	20	0	
41	σ	.089		41	21	0	: 49
81	8	.218		81	14	0	: -)
42	σ	.084		42	22	0	: -1) -
42	9	• 008 *	-	42	21	0	: -1
43	δ	* 800.	*	43	22	0	: - 10
43	δ	.028 *	*	43	23	0	-
43	δ	.062	*	43	22	00	-
43	σ			43	20	5	t
43	σ		-	43	22	* 900°	-#=
44	δ			44	22	0	-
42	δ	.104	*	42	22	0	-
43	δ			43	212	* 000.	- 44
43	6			43	21	0	: - 1)):
* significant # more than o	at	alpha equal	1.05				
		אוודדדרמוור	auvacu				

ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE FOR EFFECT OF ENLISTED RANK ON THE PERCEIVED EFFECTIVENESS OF MALE AND FEMALE SUPERVISORS

TANDARAN MANANANAN KANANAN TANANANAN TANANANAN WANANAN MANANANAN TANANANAN TANA

	PEM	MALES			AM	MALES	
Variable	Number of Cases	F Prob- ability	Multiple Range Test	Variable	Number of Cases	F Prob- ability	Multiple Range Test
81		ഗ		81	43	0	*
40	œ	ഹ		40	48	00	: -:;; ;
40	œ	N		40	48	00	: - 1)) a
Z410	185	.577			4485	* 000 *	-
41	8	ŝ		41	47	* 100.	
41	œ	0		41	48	.002 *	-#=
41	æ	S		41	48	.188	
44	œ	~		44	47	.746	
41	ω	8		41	48	.072	*
81	ω	æ		81	44	• 900	-tija
42	œ	Ο		42	48	* 000°	-18-
42	ω	4		42	48	* 000.	-#=
43	œ	σ		43	48	* 000.	-11-
43	œ	σ		43	48	.194	
43	æ	n		43	48	.859	
43	ω	2		43	8	.837	
43	8	2		43	48	8	
44	œ	.783		44	4486	ŝ	
42	œ	S		42	48	Ē	-14-
43	œ	.411		43	7	.057	*
43	œ	ŝ		43	48	9	

ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE FOR EFFECT OF OFFICER RANK ON THE PERCEIVED EFFECTIVENESS OF MALE AND FEMALE SUPERVISORS

1

BERTHER INTERACTION OF THE SECOND STREET, STREET

361

Calata in .

Number Number Mul of F Prob- Ra Variable Cases ability Te Z818 188 .001 * Te Z404 192 .002 * 2405 Z405 193 .000 * 2410 Z411 193 .005 * 2411 Z412 193 .003 * 241 *	Multiple Range Test #		Number		Multiple
818 188 00 404 192 00 405 193 00 410 193 04 411 193 04 412 193 04	-14= -14=	Variable	of Cases	F Prob- ability	Range Test
404 192 .00 405 193 .00 410 193 .04 411 193 .04 412 193 .04	: 2)(n	81	15	Ō	-+
405 193 00 410 193 00 411 193 04 412 193 04	1	40	18	Ō	-
410 193 .00 411 193 .04 412 193 .06		40	18	* 000.	-
4 11 193 .04 4 12 193 .00	-	41	11	* 000 *	
412 193 .00	-	Z411	2176		-#=
		41	17	* 000.	-14=
413 190 .00	*	41	18	* 000.	*
445 192 .00		44	1	• 100.	*
416 194 .01	*	41	11	* 000 *	-#=
819 189 .00	*	81	14	.002 *	*
426 192 .04		42	11	* 000 *	-#=
428 193 .00	-	42	2	.005 *	#
431 193 .00	*	43	17	• 003 +	*
433 193 .05		43	17	.002 *	#
435 192 .00		43	11	• 000 •	*
436 190 .00		43	16	* 000.	*
437 192 .00	*	43	17	.023 *	#
442 193 .04		44	11	.143	
424 193 .00	*	42	18	* 000.	#
434 192 .28		4	17	.053 *	#
439 193 .00	***	43	17	.898	

ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE FOR EFFECT OF CIVILIAN GRADE ON THE PERCEIVED EFFECTIVENESS OF MALE AND FEMALE SUPERVISORS

がいいて

	III	MALES			2M	MALES	
Variable	Number of Cases	F Prob- ability	Multiple Range Test	Variable	Number of Cases	F Prob- ability	Multiple Range Test
81	4	6		81	8	2	#
2404	245	.893		Z404	666	.020 *	: -#
40	4	ß		40	δ	02	-
41	4	5	-	41	6	8	B
41	4	ω		41	δ	0	-#=
41	4	8		41	9	2	
41	4	9		41	9	S	
44	4	σ		44	ω	~	
41	4	~		41	6	0	-11=
81	4	œ		81	ω	Ч	
42	4	4		42	δ	Ο	#
42	4	ŝ		42	δ	2	*
43	4	2		43	δ	0	-#=
43	Ŧ	ŝ		43	δ	0	-
43	4	.976		43	δ	2	
43	4	δ		43	δ	0	-
43	4	σ		43	δ	~	
44	4	9		44	σ	80	
42	4	4		42	δ	2	
43	4	œ		43	σ	0	211 3
43	4	9		43	δ	0	
* significant	at	alpha equal to	l to .05				

* significant at alpha equal to .05
more than one significant subset

ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE FOR EFFECT OF PROFESSIONAL MILITARY EDUCATION ON THE PERCEIVED EFFECTIVENESS OF MALE AND FEMALE SUPERVISORS

0.0.40.0

	FEM	MALES			MA	MALES	
Variable	Number of Cases	F Prob- ability	Multiple Range Test	Variable	Number of Cases	F Prob- ability	Multiple Range Test
81	6	m		81	58	* 000 *	*
40	0		-	40	68	* 000	- 20
2405	710	• 030 *	: :: ::	Z405	8687	* 000.	: -) a
41	0	-		41	67	* 000.	: -: =
41	0	.809		41	67	* 000.	: -: =
41	0	S		41	68	* 000 *	
41	0	2		41	67	* 000.	2 48 8
44	0	δ		44	66	* 000°	*
41	0	2		41	67	* 000°	-
81	0	ω		81	59	* 000°	-
42	1	Г		42	67	* 000.	-#=
42	0	• 049 *	-14-	42	67	* 000 *	-##
43	0	œ		43	68	* 000.	*
43	0	ŝ		43	68	* 000°	-10-
43	0	8		43	67	* 000°	-11=
43	0	4	*	43	65	* 000.	⊐†‡ ≈
43	0	S		43	67	0	-#=
44	0	9		44	68	0	-#=
42	0	.174		42	68	* 000 *	-#=
43	0			43	67	* 000 *	-#-
43	0	2		43	67	0	#

ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE FOR EFFECT OF EDUCATION LEVEL ON THE PERCEIVED EFFECTIVENESS OF MALE AND FEMALE SUPERVISORS

	FEA	MALES			W	MALES	
Variable	Number of Cases	F Prob- ability	Multiple Range Test	Variable	Number of Cases	F Prob- ability	Multiple Range Test
81	60	2		81	54	* 000.	
40	0	.096	- ** =	40	65	* 000.	-
40	0	.333		40	65	* 000°	-10-
Z410	700	.143	-	2410	8641	* 000.	-#
41	σ	.204	-	41	63	* 000.	
41	0	.208		41	64	* 000.	*
41	δ	.108		41	64	* 000.	
44	9	.452		44	62	.002 *	
41	0	.526		41	64	* 000°	-
81	σ	.055		81	56	* 000°	-##
42	0	.094	*	42	64	* 000.	*
42	6	.075		42	64	* 000.	- 19
43	0	.004 *		43	64	* 000.	-44=
43	0	.128		43	65	* 000.	-48-
43	0	.028 *	-**	43	64	* 000.	-##=
43	σ	.054 *		43	62	• 003 *	-18
43	σ	.011 *		43	64	* 000.	#
44	0	8	*	44	64	* 000.	-#=
42	0	4	-	42	65	* 000.	#
43	σ	.061		Z434	64	* 000 *	
43	0	0	x)je	43	64	* 000 *	
ignifi	nt at a	alpha equal					
ц С	one s.	Igniticant	subset				

ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE FOR EFFECT OF CAREER INTENTIONS ON THE PERCEIVED EFFECTIVENESS OF MALE AND FEMALE SUPERVISORS

	FEN	MALES			MA	MALES	
Variable	Number of Cases	F Prob- ability	Multiple Range Test	Variable	Number of Cases	F Prob- ability	Multiple Range Test
81	- m	0	-	81	14	* 000 *	-
40	1		: -#	40	51	* 000.	
40	4	0	: -11 =	40	52	* 000.	
41	4	Ó	: -11=	41	51	* 100.	: -11 -
Z411	644	.005 *	- -14 -	2411	8507	.030 *	: -14 -
41	4	H	-#=	41	51	• 100.	
41	4	-		41	51	.004 *	-14=
44	4	F	+	44	49	* 010 *	-#*
41	4	0	-#=	41	51	* 100.	
81	4	2	-10-	81	43	* 000.	*
42	4	m	#	42	51	* 000.	#
42	4	ŝ	*	42	51	* 000.	-44=
43	4	0	-#=	43	51	* 000.	-#=
43	4	ω	-#=	43	52	* 100.	-11-
43	4	e	#	43	51	• 008	*
43	4	0		43	49	• 000 •	*
43	4	N	*	43	51	• 008 +	*
44	4	Ē	≠	44	51	• 003 *	-18-
42	4		*	42	52	• 003 +	*
43	4	Г		43	50	.069	*
43	4	0	#	43	51	• 100.	
* signific	te te	inha emia	+ 0 05				
# more than o	ne s.	ignificant s	subset				

ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE FOR EFFECT OF ETHNIC BACKGROUND ON THE PERCEIVED EFFECTIVENESS OF MALE AND FEMALE SUPERVISORS

Same and

Number Multiple of F Prob- Range Variable Cases ability Test 2818 664 .369 Test 2818 664 .369 Test 2404 679 .771 Se0 2410 679 .170 Se1 2411 676 .160 .170 2412 679 .210 .321 2413 676 .241 676 2415 679 .321 .210 2445 676 .241 .241	ole Variable 2818 2404 2405 2410 2411	Number of Cases 8230	F Prob- ability	Multiple
818 664 .36 404 679 .77 405 681 .56 410 679 .17 411 679 .16 412 679 .21 413 679 .21 445 676 .21	84444 10011	23		Test
404 679 .77 405 681 .56 410 679 .17 411 676 .16 412 679 .32 413 673 .21 445 676 .21	4444		* 000 *	#
405 681 .56 410 679 .17 411 676 .16 412 679 .32 413 673 .21 445 676 .24	440	e S	0	: -))
410 679 .17 411 676 .16 412 679 .32 413 673 .21 445 676 .24	41	33	* 000.	ı
411 676 .16 412 679 .32 413 673 .21 445 676 .24	41	32		
412 679 .32 413 673 .21 445 676 .24		31	0	-
413 673 .21 445 676 .24	4 L	32	0	
445 676 .24	41	32	.032 *	
	44	30	9	
416 680 .25	41	32	0	
819 674 .08	81	32	0	-
426 681 .03	42	24	0	
428 678 .18	42	32	r-d	
431 680 .15	43	32	0	#
433 680 .09	43	33	0	
435 681 .07	43	32	Г	
436 679 .02	43	30	σ	
437 678 .22	43	32	9	
442 680 .09	44	32	0	
424 680 .03	42	33	0	-
434 67	43	32	.005 *	-#*
439 680 .02	43	32	2	

140

BIBLIOGRAPHY

REFERENCES CITED

- Adams, Jerome, and others. "Personality Characteristics of Male and Female Leaders at the U.S. Military Academy," <u>Journal of Political Sociology</u>, Spring 1980, pp. 99-105.
- "An Air Force Alanac," <u>Air Force Magazine</u>, May 1983, p. 168.
- 3. Ayers-Nachamkin, Beverly, and others. "Sex and Ethnic Differences in the Use of Power," <u>Journal of</u> <u>Applied Psychology</u>, Vol. 67 (1982), pp. 464-471.
- 4. Baron, Alma S., and Ken Abrahamsen. "Will He--or Won't He--Work with a Female Manger?" <u>Management</u> <u>Review</u>, November 1981, pp. 48-53.
- 5. Bartol, Kathryn M. and Phillip J. Manhardt. "Sex Differences in Job Outcome Preferences: Trends among Newly Hired College Graduates," <u>Journal of</u> <u>Applied Psychology</u>, Vol. 67 (1982), pp. 464-471.
- 6. Bielby, Denise Del Vento. "Career Sex Atypicality and Career Involvement of College Educated Women: Baseline Evidence from the 1960's," <u>Sociology of</u> Education, January 1978, pp. 7-28.
- 7. Butterfield, D. Anthony, and Gary N. Powell. "Effect of Group Performance, Leader Sex, and Rater Sex on Ratings of Leader Behavior," <u>Organizational</u> <u>Behavior and Human Performance</u>, Vol. 28 (1981), pp. 129-141.
- 8. Chacko, Thomas I. "Women and Equal Employment Opportunity: Some Unintended Effects," <u>Journal of</u> <u>Applied Psychology</u>, Vol. 67 (1982), pp. 464-471.
- 9. Chusmir, Leonard H. "Job Commitment and the Organizational Woman," <u>Academy of Management Review</u>, Vol. 7 (1982), pp. 595-602.
- 10. Cook, Suzanne H., and Jack L. Mendelson. "Androgynous Management: Key to Social Responsibility?" <u>S.A.M.</u> <u>Advanced Management Journal</u>, Winter 1977, pp. 25-35.

11. Crittenden, Vicky L., and William F. Crittenden, "Male and Female Students' Perceptions of Women in Management," <u>Collegiate News and Views</u>, Spring 1983, pp. 27-32. 12. Doering, Zahava D., and William P. Hutzler. "Description of Officers and Enlisted Personnel in the U.S. Armed Forces." Unpublished technical report No. R-2851-MRAL, Assistant Secretary of Defense, Reserve Affairs and Logistics, Washington DC, March 1982. AD All4806.

- 13. Donnell, Susan M., and Jay Hall. "Men and Women as Managers: A Significant Case of No Significant Difference," <u>Organizational Dynamics</u>, Spring 1980, pp. 60-75.
- 14. Dowdell, Faye E. "Gender Differences in Orientations Toward Military Service," Unpublished technical report, U.S. Army Research Institute and the Behavioral and Social Sciences, Alexandria VA, December 1979. AD A077855.
- 15. Ezell, Hazel F., and others. "The Effects of Having Been Supervised by a Woman on Perceptions of Female Managerial Competence," <u>Personnel</u> <u>Psychology</u>, Vol. 62, pp. 29-33.
- 16. Garland, Howard, and Kenneth H. Price. "Attitudes toward Women in Management and Attributions for Their Success and Failure in a Managerial Position," Journal of Applied Psychology, Vol. 62, pp. 29-33.
- 17. Gates, Ed. "Personnel Outlook: Nine-tenths Overcast," <u>Air Force Magazine</u>, September 1979, pp. 130-135.
- 18. Good, Jerene, Faris R. Kirkland, and Grant R. Grissom. "Working Relationships between Men and Women: Effects of Sex and Hierarchical Position on Perceptions of Self and Others in a Work Setting." Unpublished technical report No. 6, Office of Naval Research, Arlington VA, June 1979. AD A072413.
- 19. Hendrix, Lieutenant Colonel William H., and Airman First Class Vicki B. Halverson. "Organizational Survey Assessment Package for Air Force Organizations." Unpublished research report, AFHRL-TR-78-93, Occupation and Manpower Research Division, Human Resources Laboratory, Air Force Systems Command, Brooks AFB TX, February 1979.

20. Hinsdale, Kirsten, and J. David Johnson. "Masculinity, Femininity, and Androgyny: What Really Works at Work?" Unpublished technical report No. 2, Office of Naval Research, Arlington VA, October 1978. AD A062427.

- 21. "Stereotypes of Working Women: Fact or Fiction?" Unpublished technical report No. 2, Office of Naval Research, Arlington VA, October 1978. AD A062427.
- 22. Hoiberg, Anne, and Patricia J. Thomas. "The Economics of Sex Integration: An Update of Binkin and Bach," <u>Defense Management Review</u>, Second Quarter 1982, pp. 18-25.
- 23. Holahan, Carole K., and Lucia A. Gilbert. "Interrole Conflict for Working Women: Career versus Jobs," <u>Journal of Applied Psychology</u>, Vol. 64 (1979), pp. 86-90.
- 24. Holm, Major General Jeanne (Retired). <u>Women in the</u> <u>Military</u>, Novato CA: Presidio Press, 1982.
- 25. Humphreys, Luther Wade, and William A. Shrode. "Decision-Making Profiles of Female and Male Managers," <u>MSU Business Topics</u>, Autumn 1978, pp. 45-51.
- 26. Izraeli, Dafna N., and others. "Women Executives in MNC Subsidiaries," <u>California Management Review</u>, Vol 23, pp. 53-63.
- 27. Jago, Arthur G., and Victor H. Vroom. "Sex Differences in the Incidence and Evaluation of Participative Leader Behavior," <u>Journal of Applied</u> <u>Psychology</u>, Vol. 67 (1982), pp. 776-783.
- 28. Krieger, H. L, Director, U.S. General Accounting Office. Letter, subject: Minority and Female Distribution Patterns in the Military Services (PPCD-81-6), to Harold Brown, U.S. Secretary of Defense, 18 December 1980.
- 29. Latack, Janina C. "Person/Role Conflict: Holland's Model Extended to Role Stress Research, Stress Management, and Career Development," <u>Academy of</u> Management Review, Vol. 6 (1981), pp. 89-103.

30. LMDC. <u>The Commander's Guide to Air Force Leadership</u> <u>and Management Consultation Services</u>. Pamphlet, Directorate of Mangement Strategies and Education, Leadership and Management Development Center, Air University, Maxwell AFB AL, 7 January 1983.

- 31. Lord, Robert G., and others. "Effects of Sex and Personality on Perceptions of Emergent Leadership, Influence, and Social Power," <u>Journal of Applied</u> <u>Psychology</u>, Vol. 65 (1980), pp. 176-182.
- 32. McClave, James T., and P. George Benson. <u>Statistics</u> for Business and Economics. Santa Clara CA: Dellen Publishing Company, 1982.
- 33. Moore, Loretta M., and Annette U. Rickel. "Characteristics of Women in Traditional and Non-Traditional Managerial Roles," <u>Personnel Psychology</u>, Vol. 33 (1980), pp. 317-333.
- 34. Muldrow, Tressie W., and James A. Bayton. "Men and Women Executives and Processes Related to Decision Accuracy," Journal of Applied Psychology, Vol. 64 (1979), pp. 99-106.
- 35. Nieva, Veronica F., and Barbara A. Gutek. "Sex Effects on Evaluation," <u>Academy of Management</u> <u>Review</u>, Vol. 5 (1980), pp. 5267-276
- 36. O'Connor, Robert D. "The Nature and Mission Relatedness of Race and Sex Discrimination in the Navy." Unpublished technical report, unnumbered, Office of Naval Research, Arlington VA, December 1978.
- 37. Oganesoff, Barbara J. "Women in the Military: Part II," <u>Government Executive</u>, March-April 1982, pp. 45-48.
- 38. _____. "Women in the Military: Part III," <u>Government Executive</u>, May 1982, pp. 50-56.
- 39. Okanes, Marvin M., and L. William Murray. "Achievement and Machiavellianism among Men and Women Managers," <u>Psychology Reports</u>, Vol. 45 (1980), pp. 783-788.
- 40. <u>Organizational Assessment Package: Factors and</u> <u>Variables.</u> Pamphlet, Leadership and Management Development Center (LMDC), Air University, Maxwell AFB AL, 1982.

41. Perrucci, Carolyn C., and Dena B. Targ. "Early Work Orientation and Later Situational Factors as Elements of Work Commitment among Married Women College Graduates," <u>Sociological Quarterly</u>, Spring 1978, pp. 266-280.

- 42. "Personnel Outlook Improving If . . . ," <u>Air Force</u> <u>Magazine</u>, August 1981, pp. 34-39.
- 43. Polit, Denise, and others. "Techniques for Research on Factors Affecting the Utilization of Women in Non-Traditional Roles." Unpublished technical report, unnumbered, U.S. Army Research Institute for Behavioral Sciences, Arlington VA, April 1978. AD A069163.
- 44. Rice, Robert W., and others. "Leader Sex, Follower Attitudes toward Women, and Leadership Effectiveness: A Laboratory Experiment," <u>Organizational</u> <u>Behavior and Human Performance</u>, Vol. 25 (1980), pp. 46-78.
- 45. Shingledecker, Pamela, and James R. Terborg. "Employee Reactions to Performance Appraisal as a Function of Subordinate and Manger Sex," Unpublished technical report No. 79-2, Office of Naval Research, Arlington VA, September 1979. AD 077625.
- 46. Stauder, Major Peter G. "Woman: Does Her Sex Mean She is Less Prepared to Supervise?" Unpublished research report No. 2380-77, Air Command and Staff College, Maxwell AFB AL, May 1977. AD B019723.
- 47. Stevens, George E., and Angelo S. DeNisi. "Women as Managers: Attitudes and Attributions for Performance by Men and Women," <u>Academy of Management</u> <u>Review</u>, Vol. 23 (1980), pp. 355-361.
- 48. Terborg, James R. "Women in Management: A Research Review," <u>Journal of Applied Psychology</u>, Vol. 23 (1980), pp. 647-664.
- 49. Thomas, Patricia J. "Role of Women in the Military: Australia, Canada, the United Kingdom, and the United States." Unpublished technical report, unnumbered, Navy Personnel Research and Development Center, San Diego CA, April 1978. AD A055044.

- 50. Waller, Captain Steven D., USAF. "An Evaluation of an Attitudinal Model to Measure the Potential for Combat Effectiveness of U.S. Air Force Organizations," Unpublished Master's Thesis. LSSR 39-82, AFIT/LS, Wright-Patterson AFB OH, September 1982. AD Al24103.
- 51. Wexley, Kenneth N., and Elaine D. Pulakos. "Sex Effects on Performance Ratings in Manager-Subordinate Dyads: A Field Study," <u>Journal of</u> <u>Applied Psychology</u>, Vol. 67 (1982), pp. 433-439.
- 52. White, Michael C., and others. "A Critical Review of Female Performance, Performance Training and Organizational Initiatives Designed to Aid Women in the Work-Role Environment," <u>Personnel</u> <u>Psychology</u>, Vol. 34, (1981), pp. 227-248.
- 53. "Achievement, Self-Confidence, Personality Traits, and Leadership Ability: A Review of Literature on Sex Differences," <u>Psychological</u> <u>Reports</u>, Vol. 48, pp. 547-569.
- 54. Wiley, Mary Glenn, and Arlene Eskilson. "The Interaction of Sex and Power Base on Perceptions of Managerial Effectiveness," <u>Academy of</u> <u>Management Journal</u>, Vol. 25 (1982), pp. 671-677.
- 55. Winer, B. J. <u>Statistical Principles in Experimental</u> <u>Design</u>. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1971.
- 56. Young, Jerald W. "The Subordinate's Exposure of Organizational Vulnerability to the Supervisor: Sex and Organizational Effects," <u>Academy of</u> <u>Management Journal</u>, Vol. 21 (1978), pp. 113-122.

